
  

 

James Ellis 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services   
 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

MEETING : LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

VENUE : ONLINE MEETING - LIVESTREAMED 

DATE : FRIDAY 8 JANUARY 2021 

TIME : 10.00 AM 

 

 

MEMBERS OF THE SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

Councillors R Bolton, D Snowdon and N Symonds 

 

COMMITTEE OFFICER: PETER MANNINGS 

01279 502174 

peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

1. A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any 

committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(DPI) in any matter to be considered or being considered at a 

meeting: 

 

 must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

meeting; 

 

 must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 

meeting; 

 

 must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether 

registered or not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of 

the Localism Act 2011; 

 

 if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of 

the interest within 28 days; 

 

 must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes 

place. 

 

2. A DPI is an interest of a Member or their partner (which means 

spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they 

were civil partners) within the descriptions as defined in the 

Localism Act 2011. 

 

3. The Authority may grant a Member dispensation, but only in 

limited circumstances, to enable him/her to participate and vote 

on a matter in which they have a DPI. 

 

4. It is a criminal offence to: 

 



 

 fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting 

if it is not on the register; 

 fail to notify the Monitoring Officer, within 28 days, of a DPI 

that is not on the register that a Member disclosed to a 

meeting; 

 participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which a 

Member has a DPI; 

 knowingly or recklessly provide information that is false or 

misleading in notifying the Monitoring Officer of a DPI or in 

disclosing such interest to a meeting. 

 

(Note: The criminal penalties available to a court are to 

impose a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard 

scale and disqualification from being a councillor for 

up to 5 years.)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Attendance 

 

East Herts Council provides for public attendance at its virtual 

meetings and will livestream and record this meeting. The livestream 

will be available during the meeting on the East Herts District 

YouTube channel (available from YouTube and then searching for the 

channel) or at this link: 

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict/live. 

 

If you would like further information, email 

democratic.services@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279 

655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accessing the agenda pack 

 

To obtain a copy of the agenda, please note the Council does not 

generally print agendas, as it now has a paperless policy for 

meetings. You can view the public version of the agenda for this 

meeting on the Council’s website in the section relating to meetings 

of Committees. You can also use the ModGov app to access the 

agenda pack on a mobile device. The app can be downloaded from 

your usual app store. 

Implementing paperless meetings will save East Herts Council 

approximately £50,000 each year in printing and distribution costs of 

agenda packs for councillors and officers. 

 

You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate and keep all 

committee paperwork on your mobile device. 

Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political- 

Structure for details. 



 

AGENDA 

1. Appointment of Chairman  

 

2. Apologies  

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 

 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

 

4. Declarations of Interest  

 

 To receive any Members’ Declarations of Interest. 

 

5. Minutes - 20 November and 9 December 2020 (Pages 7 - 24) 

 

 To approve the Minutes of Previous Sub-Committee meetings: 

20 November 2020 

9 December 2020 

 

6. Summary of Procedure (Pages 25 - 32) 

 

 A summary of the procedure to be followed during consideration 

of item 7 is attached. 

 

7. Application for a new Premises Licence, Waterbridge 2021 at 

Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton at Stone, Hertford (Pages 33 - 146) 

 

8. Urgent Business  

 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman 

of the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration 

and is not likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information. 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD IN THE 

ZOOM ON FRIDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2020, AT 

10.00 AM 

   

 PRESENT: Councillor B Crystall (Chairman) 

  Councillors D Andrews and R Bolton 

   

 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Peter Mannings - Democratic 

Services Officer 

  Brad Wheeler - Senior Licensing 

and Enforcement 

Officer 

  Victoria Wilders - Legal Services 

Manager 

 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Mr Harry Garbutt - Applicant 

(Director of 

Premium Alcohol 

Delivery) 

  Mr William Thomas - Applicant 

(Director of 

Premium Alcohol 

Delivery) 

 

8   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 It was moved by Councillor Bolton and seconded by 

Councillor Andrews, that Councillor Crystall be 

appointed Chairman for the meeting.  After being put 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

to the meeting and a vote taken, the motion was 

declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that Councillor Crystall be 

appointed Chairman for the meeting. 
 

9   APOLOGIES  

 

 

 There were no apologies. 

 

 

10   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

 

 There were no Chairman’s Announcements. 

 

 

11   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

 There were no declarations of interest. 

 

 

12   MINUTES - 1 AND 5 JUNE 2020  

 

 

 It was moved by Councillor Andrews and seconded by 

Councillor Bolton that the Minutes of the meetings 

held on 1 and 5 June 2020 each be confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman.  After 

being put to the meeting and a vote taken, this motion 

was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meetings 

held on 1 and 5 June 2020 each be confirmed as 

a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

13   APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE FOR 

PREMIUM ALCOHOL DELIVERY LTD (20/0750/PL)   

 

 

 The Democratic Services Officer assisted the Chairman 

by summarising the procedure for the Sub-Committee 

hearing. All those present were introduced or 

introduced themselves. The Senior Licensing and 

Enforcement Officer referred Members to the report 

covering a new premises licence application under 

Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003. 

 

The Sub-Committee was advised that on the 31 August 

2020, Premium Alcohol Delivery Ltd submitted an 

application for a new premises licence for Office Six, 

Broadmeads Pumping Station, Hertford Road, Ware. 

The application was solely for the supply of alcohol off 

the premises between 18:00 hours to 06:00 hours 

Monday to Sunday. Members were advised that the 

applicant had proposed a number of steps that could 

be taken to promote the four licensing objectives. 

 

The Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer said that 

the public would not have access to the premises at 

any time as the business model was for delivery only 

and an age verification scheme would be in use. The 

Sub-Committee was advised that all windows would be 

closed and the applicant’s private vehicles would be 

used from onsite parking and loading bays. The Officer 

referred to the intended use of blackout blinds and he 

said that these measures were further strengthened 

by the conditions agreed with Hertfordshire 

Constabulary. 

 

The Sub-Committee was advised that 12 

 

Page 9



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

representations had been received from local 

residents and interested parties during the 

consultation period regarding the prevention of public 

nuisance, the prevention of crime and disorder and 

public safety licensing objectives. 

 

The Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer said that 

the report covered the East Herts statement of 

licensing policy and the revised guidance under Section 

182 of the Licensing Act 2003. The Sub-Committee 

should determine the application with a view to 

promoting the four licensing objectives and Members 

must consider if the applicant had evidenced whether 

the application would not undermine the licensing 

objectives and this should be balanced against the 

evidence given by interested parties and residents. 

 

The Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer said that 

if the Sub-Committee believed that the licensing 

objectives would not be undermined then the 

application should be approved. Members were 

advised that if they believed that the application would 

not promote the 4 objectives, they should take 

appropriate and proportionate action to address these 

concerns. The Senior Licensing and Enforcement 

Officer said that the application should only be refused 

as a last resort and the Members’ decision should be 

evidence based, justified and appropriate. 

 

Councillor Bolton asked if there had been 

representations from the responsible authorities. The 

Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer confirmed 

that there had been no such representations. He also 

confirmed for Councillor Bolton that this was a 

Page 10



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

commercial office site with no residents living there 

and there were no other premises. 

 

Councillor Andrews commented on his assumption 

that there was no change of use meaning that 

planning permission was not required. The Senior 

Licensing and Enforcement Officer confirmed that this 

was a commercial site and there had been no replies 

from Planning Officers. 

 

Councillor Crystall posed a question as to whether the 

gates to the site were locked at night. The applicant, Mr 

Thomas, was assured that the Sub-Committee had 

received the statement that he had issued. He 

confirmed that he believed that the gates to the site 

were not locked at night. 

 

Mr Thomas said he believed that the nature of the 

application had been misinterpreted as being for a 

large scale warehouse and he could understand that 

concern. He said that the business had been run for 

two years from a residential area without there having 

been any complaints. 

 

Mr Thomas referred to noise and said that the nearest 

residential premises was 70 metres away and he felt 

that this was a substantial amount of ground. He said 

that the concern of safety of access was not an issue as 

there would be no delivery drivers or forklifts as 

Premium Alcohol Delivery Ltd was a small independent 

company with 2 directors using personal vehicles 

meaning that there would be no significant build up in 

traffic due to this application. 

 

Page 11



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

Mr Thomas said that Sally Bannister from 

Hertfordshire Constabulary had inspected the 

premises regarding crime and disorder and some 

conditions had been attached and the police had no 

objections to the application. Councillor Andrews 

posed a question to the applicant in terms of the steps 

to be taken to protect minors from accessing alcohol. 

 

Mr Thomas said that all customers were required to 

confirm age when placing an order online or by phone. 

He said that the terms and conditions confirmation 

also covered a declaration that customers were over 

18. He said that a challenge 18 policy would be used 

and most people would be ID checked to prove their 

identity on delivery. 

 

Councillor Andrews was assured by Mr Thomas that 

parking and loading could take place behind the 

premises if that was required as a condition on the 

application. He said that there was only one entrance 

and no HGVs or forklift trucks would be used by 

Premium Alcohol Delivery Ltd. 

 

Councillor Bolton made the point that some 15 years 

old looked 18. Mr Thomas confirmed that he and his 

fellow director where very aware of what was required 

and would never sell alcohol to anyone who was not 

18. He said that checks would be carried out when 

required and any further delivery personnel would be 

over 18 and trained in ID work and would also need to 

have a clean driving record. 

 

The Sub-Committee was advised by Mr Thomas that he 

would accept a condition on a minimum age of 

Page 12



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

delivery driver and would be happy to operate a 

challenge 21 or 25 policy. He confirmed to Councillor 

Bolton that there had been no complaints with regards 

to his current licence in a residential street and he did 

not believe that many residents on this street were 

actually aware that the business existed and was 

operating from this site. 

 

Councillor Crystall referred to a public nuisance matter 

in the event that gates were locked at night with a 

chain and padlock arrangement. Mr Thomas 

emphasised that the gates were open at night and 

there was an office linked intercom system in case the 

gates did happen to be locked. He said that all 

products were packed in an office and then loaded 

straight into a vehicle to minimise noise. He assured 

Councillor Crystall that there was not going to be a 

high volume of orders, perhaps around 30 in a typical 

weekend. 

 

Councillor Crystall asked about the proposed hours 

until six in the morning. Mr Thomas said that this was 

to allow for potential growth of the business and the 

hours would initially stay the same prior to future 

expansion. He also stated that it was not the plan to 

use courier vans to visit wholesalers as he and his 

fellow director collected direct from wholesalers. He 

explained that a courier company might be used to 

deliver solely to the business in future. 

 

Mr Thomas made a brief closing submission before the 

Sub-Committee retired to make its decision. At the 

conclusion of the closing submissions, the Sub-

Committee, the Legal Services Manager and the 

Page 13



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

Democratic Services Officer withdrew from the main 

Zoom session to allow Members to consider the 

evidence. 

 

Following this, Members and the Democratic Services 

Officer returned and the Chairman announced that the 

Sub-Committee had listened to the comments of the 

Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer and the 

applicant and the Sub-Committee have taken into 

account concerns raised by the interested parties. 

 

The Chairman said that the Sub-Committee had 

decided to grant the application, subject to the 

following additional conditions, along with the steps 

agreed with the Police to promote the licensing 

objectives and subject to the following additional 

conditions: 

 

 Only a car / small van (Light Goods Vehicle) will be 

used for stock receipts and deliveries; 

 

 That no vehicle used outside normal office hours 

of 09:00 –17:00 should be fitted with a reversing 

alarm; 

 

 No mechanical / material handling equipment to 

be used at anytime 

 

 That condition 2 of paragraph 3.6 be replaced with 

a “Challenge 25” policy to be used. 

 

In coming to its decision, the Sub-Committee believed that 

the applicant had provided evidence that the granting of 

the licence would promote and not undermine the 

Page 14



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

licensing objectives. The evidence was balanced against the 

representations that had been made by residents. 

 

RESOLVED – that the application for a New 

Premises Licence for Premium Alcohol Delivery 

Ltd, be granted subject to the additional steps 

agreed with the Police to promote the licensing 

objectives and subject to the following 

additional conditions: 

 

 Only a car / small van (Light Goods Vehicle) 

will be used for stock receipts and 

deliveries; 

 

 That no vehicle used outside normal office 

hours of 09:00 –17:00 should be fitted with 

a reversing alarm; 

 

 No mechanical / material handling 

equipment to be used at anytime 

 

 That condition 2 of paragraph 3.6 be 

replaced with a “Challenge 25” policy to be 

used. 

 

14   URGENT BUSINESS  

 

 

 There was no urgent business. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 15



LS LS 
 
 

 

 

The meeting closed at 11.13 am 

 

 

Chairman ............................................................ 

 

Date  ............................................................ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



LS LS 
 
 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD AS AN 

ONLINE MEETING ON WEDNESDAY 9 

DECEMBER 2020, AT 10.00 AM 

   

 PRESENT: Councillor J Jones (Chairman) 

  Councillors M Goldspink and C Wilson 

   

 ALSO PRESENT:  

 

  Councillors D Andrews and R Bolton 

   

 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Peter Mannings - Democratic 

Services Officer 

  William Troop - Democratic 

Services Officer 

  Brad Wheeler - Senior Licensing 

and Enforcement 

Officer 

  Victoria Wilders - Legal Services 

Manager 

 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Mr Thomas Day - Applicant 

  Mr Ben Fathers - Local Resident 

(Interested Party) 

 

15   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN  

 

 

 It was moved by Councillor Goldspink and seconded by 

Councillor Wilson, that Councillor Jones be appointed 

Chairman for the meeting.  After being put to the 

 

Page 17



LS LS 
 
 

 

meeting and a vote taken, the motion was declared 

CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that Councillor Jones be appointed 

Chairman for the meeting. 

 

16   APOLOGIES  

 

 

 There were no apologies. 

 

 

17   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

 

 The Chairman said that the Local Authorities and 

Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 

Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 2020 came into force 

on Saturday 4 April 2020 to enable Councils to hold 

remote committee meetings during the COVID-19 

pandemic period. This was to ensure local authorities 

could conduct business during this current public 

health emergency. This meeting of the Licensing Sub-

Committee was being held remotely under these 

regulations, via the Zoom application and was being 

recorded and live streamed on YouTube. 

 

 

18   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

 There were no declarations of interest. 

 

 

19   APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE FOR FRENCH 

AND DAY LTD (20/0885/PL)   

 

 

 The Chairman summarised the procedure for the Sub-

Committee hearing. All those present were introduced 

or introduced themselves. The Senior Licensing and 

 

Page 18



LS LS 
 
 

 

Enforcement Officer presented his report covering a 

new premises licence application under Section 17 of 

the Licensing Act 2003. 

 

The Sub-Committee was advised that on the 19 

October 2020, French and Day Ltd submitted an 

application for a new premises licence for 55 High 

Street, Ware. The application was for the supply of 

alcohol for consumption both on and off the premises 

between 9:00 hours to 23:00 hours, Monday to 

Sunday. Members were advised that the applicant had 

proposed a number of steps that could be taken to 

promote the four licensing objectives. 

 

Members were also advised that the applicant, in 

consultation with Environmental Health and 

Hertfordshire Constabulary, had also varied the 

application to include a number of extra measures, 

including a ‘Challenge 25’ policy and measures to limit 

noise transference to neighbouring properties. 

 

The Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer said that 

the report covered the East Herts statement of 

licensing policy and the revised guidance under Section 

182 of the Licensing Act 2003. The Sub-Committee 

should determine the application with a view to 

promoting the four licensing objectives and Members 

must consider if the applicant had evidenced whether 

the application would not undermine the licensing 

objectives and this should be balanced against the 

evidence given by interested party. 

 

The Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer said that 

if the Sub-Committee believed that the licensing 

objectives would not be undermined then the 

Page 19



LS LS 
 
 

 

application should be granted. Members were advised 

that if they believed that the application would not 

promote the four licensing objectives, they should take 

appropriate and proportionate action to address these 

concerns. The Senior Licensing and Enforcement 

Officer said that the Sub-Committee could attach 

conditions, limit the hours or restrict licensable activity. 

The application should only be refused as a last resort 

and the Members’ decision should be evidence based, 

justified and appropriate. 

 

The applicant briefly explained the nature of the 

business, which would be a delicatessen specialising in 

the sale of local produce and also serving beers, wines 

and spirits. It was hoped, if the license was granted, 

that occasional evening events would be held, such as 

wine tasting sessions. 

 

The Chairman asked about the planned opening hours 

and how many evening events it was foreseen would 

be held. 

 

The applicant said opening hours would likely be 10am 

– 7pm. The evening events would be a maximum of 

once a month, with around 15 to 20 people attending. 

It was foreseen that the rear sales floor would be used, 

and attendees would have to book in advance, with 

food being served. 

 

The Chairman and Councillor Goldspink asked the 

applicant where the premises adjoined the 

neighbouring residential property.  

 

The applicant said that the properties adjoined on the 

first floor, flying over Water Row. His premises 

Page 20



LS LS 
 
 

 

comprised only of the basement and ground floor, 

with the first and second floors being retained by the 

landlord. Councillor Wilson asked whether the 

applicant had explored any soundproofing options.  

 

The applicant said he had not. Due to the listed status 

of the building, including wooden panelling on the 

walls, soundproofing would not be achievable.  

 

The Legal Services Manager asked the applicant about 

any measures that would be taken to avoid nuisance 

being caused by the premises. 

 

The applicant said that in relation to the adjoining wall, 

as this was at the first floor level, this was not within 

his premises and would be retained by the landlord. 

He believed that this would be used as an office space. 

 

The interested party confirmed that that the 

applicant’s description of how the properties were 

adjoined was correct. He said that the applicant’s 

business sounded like a good fit for the area and made 

it clear he did not wish to be an unnecessary 

hindrance.  

 

Members were advised that his employment often 

meant that he worked through the night and slept 

early. The noise transference was therefore of 

particular concern, which had been noticeable but less 

problematic when the adjoining premises was used as 

a bank. There was also the potential worsening of the 

existing problem of people urinating on Water Row, 

although he accepted the expected clientele of the 

delicatessen did not sound likely to be very intoxicated 

or rowdy. These issues could have an effect on the 

Page 21



LS LS 
 
 

 

value of his property. He added that soundproofing in 

his property could be explored as the doors were the 

only listed feature in his home. 

 

The Chairman said that the license could be reviewed 

at a later date if any problems did arise and were 

raised by residents or responsible authorities. This was 

confirmed by the Legal Services Manager.  

 

The interested party said he would be satisfied with a 

limit being placed on the number of evening events 

which could be held and proposed a figure of one a 

month. The applicant confirmed this would be 

acceptable to him. 

 

The applicant made a brief closing submission before 

the Sub-Committee retired to make its decision. At the 

conclusion of the closing submission, the Sub-

Committee, the Legal Services Manager and the 

Democratic Services Officer withdrew from the main 

Zoom session to allow Members to consider the 

evidence. 

 

Following this, Members and the Democratic Services 

Officer returned and the Chairman announced that the 

Licensing Sub-Committee had listened to the 

comments of the Senior Licensing and Enforcement 

Officer, the applicant and the interested party and the 

Sub-Committee had taken into account concerns 

raised by the interested party. The Sub-Committee 

decided to grant the application, subject to an 

additional condition along with the steps agreed with 

the Police and Environmental Health to promote the 

licensing objectives. 

 

Page 22



LS LS 
 
 

 

Additional Condition: 

 

 Licensed hours are limited from 9am – 7pm from 

Monday to Sunday, apart from during pre-

arranged events that are to take place no more 

than once monthly, during which licensed hours 

will extend from 9am – 11pm (the sale of alcohol 

finishing 15 minutes before closing time at 

10:45pm).  

 

In coming to its decision the Sub-Committee believed 

that the applicant had provided evidence that the 

granting of the licence would promote and not 

undermine the four licensing objectives. The evidence 

was balanced against the representations made by the 

interested party. 

 

RESOLVED – that the application for a New 

Premises Licence for French and Day Ltd, be 

granted subject to the additional steps agreed 

with the Police and Environmental Health to 

promote the four licensing objectives and 

subject to the following additional condition: 

 

 Licensed hours are limited from 9am – 7pm 

from Monday to Sunday, apart from during 

pre-arranged events that are to take place no 

more than once monthly, during which 

licensed hours will extend from 9am – 11pm 

(the sale of alcohol finishing 15 minutes 

before closing time at 10:45pm). 

 

The meeting closed at 11.20 am 

 

 

Page 23



LS LS 
 
 

 

Chairman ............................................................ 

 

Date  ............................................................ 

 

 

Page 24



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE  

 

EXTRACT FROM RULES OF PROCEDURE – updated April 2020 

to reflect provision for remote meetings 

 

Note – the full Rules of Procedure can be viewed at: 

 

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=144&Ye

ar=0  

 

8.0 Procedure at hearing 

 

As a matter of practice, the Sub-Committee shall seek to focus the 

hearing on the steps needed to promote the particular licensing 

objective(s) which has given rise to the specific representation(s) 

and will avoid straying into undisputed areas.  The hearing is a 

discussion lead by the Authority (i.e. the Chairman) with advice 

from the Legal Adviser. 

 

8.1 The order of business shall be at the discretion of the 

Sub-Committee, but shall normally proceed in accordance 

with the following paragraphs.  In the case of a remotely 

hosted meeting, all parties will be invited to join via Zoom, 

either via a website or through the Zoom app.  

Instructions on how to accept an invitation to take part 

will be published with the agenda pack and placed on the 

website in advance of the meeting.  All participants will be 

contacted personally in advance of the meeting to ensure 

awareness of the fact that the meeting will be conducted 

remotely.   

 

8.2  The Chairman shall at the beginning of the hearing, 

introduce themselves and the Sub-Committee members, 

ask the Officers present to introduce themselves before 

inviting the parties to the hearing to identify themselves. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6

http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=144&Year=0
http://democracy.eastherts.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=144&Year=0


The Chairman will then explain to the parties the 

procedure that the Sub-Committee intends to follow.   

 

8.3  The Chairman will ask a representative of the Licensing 

Authority to introduce the report, and outline the matter 

before the Sub-Committee. 

 

8.5 The Parties to a hearing for an application shall usually be 

invited to address the Sub-Committee in the following 

order: 

 

(a) Applicant 

(b) Responsible Authority 

(c)  Other parties 

 

However, this may be varied at the discretion of the 

Chairman, if in his/her opinion, this would assist the 

efficient business of the Sub-Committee.  

 

8.6 Parties to the hearing shall be entitled to:  

 

(a) give further information in support of their 

application, relevant representations or notice (as 

applicable) in response to a point upon which the 

Licensing Authority has given notice that it requires 

clarification; 

 

(b) question any other party if given permission by the 

Chairman of the Sub-Committee; and 

 

(c) address the Sub-Committee. 

 

8.7 Members of the Sub-Committee may ask any question of 

any party to the hearing or other person appearing at the 

hearing. 

 

Page 26



8.8 Where there is more than one relevant representation 

raising the same or similar grounds, the Sub-Committee 

shall request that only one party address them on behalf 

of the parties who have made the representations in 

question. 

 

8.9 Subject to paragraph 8.10 below, in considering any 

relevant representations or notice made by a party to the 

hearing, the Sub-Committee may take into account 

additional documentary or other information produced 

by such a party in support of their application, relevant 

representations or notice (as applicable) either submitted 

at least 24 hours before the hearing commences or, with 

the consent of all the other parties and the Chairman, at 

the hearing.  Where all the other parties consent the 

Licensing Sub-Committee has discretion as to whether to 

admit additional documentary evidence or other 

information at the hearing. If large documents are 

submitted on the day then the hearing may be adjourned 

at the Chairman’s discretion so that such documents can 

be fully considered. 

 

Note - As a matter of good practice, any additional documentation 

or other information produced in advance of the hearing date, 

should be submitted to the licensing officer no later than two 

working days before the hearing. 

 

8.10 The Sub-Committee shall disregard any information given 

or evidence produced by a party or any person to whom 

permission is given to appear at the hearing, which is not 

relevant to: 

 

(a) their application, relevant representations or notice 

(as applicable); or 

 

(b) the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Page 27



 

8.11 Hearsay evidence may be admitted before the Sub-

Committee, but consideration shall always be given to the 

weight, if any, to be attached to such evidence, depending 

upon the circumstances in which it arises. 

 

8.12  The parties to the hearing shall be entitled to make 

closing submissions, usually in the following order: 

 

(a) Responsible Authority 

(b) Other party 

(c) Applicant.   

 

8.13 The Sub-Committee will, after hearing the relevant 

representations of the parties to the hearing, withdraw 

from the room to make their deliberations in what is 

known as a Zoom “break out room”.  In the case of a 

meeting conducted remotely via an app, this will mean 

that the Members of the Sub-Committee and the Officers 

referred to below will remain connected via the app in a 

break out meeting.  All parties other than the Members of 

the Sub-Committee and the Officers referred to below 

shall be remain in the main meeting in Zoom. 

 

8.14 The Legal Adviser and the Democratic Services Officer 

shall accompany the Sub-Committee when they retire to 

make their deliberations. 

 

8.15 At the conclusion of the period of deliberation, the Sub-

Committee and accompanying officers will return to the 

meeting.  In the case of a remotely conducted meeting, 

this will require the Sub-Committee, the Democratic 

Services Officer and the Legal Services Manager to re-join 

the hosted meeting. 

 

9.0 Determination of applications 

Page 28



 

9.1 The Sub-Committee shall give appropriate weight to: 

 

(a) the relevant representations (including supporting 

information) presented by all the parties; 

(b)  national guidance; 

(c)  the Licensing Authority’s Licensing/Gambling Policy 

(as applicable); and 

(d)  the steps that are necessary to promote the 

licensing objectives. 

 

9.2  The Sub-Committee shall make its determination: 

 

(a) at the conclusion of the hearing in accordance with 

the relevant Regulations; or 

(b)  within 5 working days thereafter (all other cases). 

 

9.3 The written notice of determination shall be issued by 

Head of Housing and Health under delegated authority 

and will information regarding the appeals process.   

 

10.0 Role of Legal Adviser 

 

10.1  The Sub-Committee may seek advice or clarification of 

any procedural, technical or legal matter from the Legal 

Adviser at any time during the course of the hearing. 

 

10.2  The Legal Adviser shall provide the Sub-Committee with 

any advice it requires to properly perform its functions, 

on: 

 

(a)  questions of law; 

(b)  questions of mixed fact and law; 

(c)  matters of practice and procedure; 

(d)  the range of options available to the Sub-

Committee; 

Page 29



(e)  any relevant decisions of courts; 

(f)  relevant national guidance or policy; 

(g)  other issues relevant to the matter before the Sub-

Committee. 

 

10.4  The Legal Adviser shall play no part in making findings of 

fact, but may assist the Sub-Committee by reminding it of 

the evidence taken from his/her own or the Democratic 

Services Officer’s notes. 

 

10.5  The Legal Adviser may ask questions of witnesses and the 

parties in order to clarify the evidence and any issues in 

the case.  The Legal Adviser is under a duty to ensure that 

every case is conducted fairly. 

 

11.0 Role of Democratic Services Officer 

 

11.1 The Democratic Services Officer’s role is to make a record 

of the proceedings, summarise and record decisions and 

to provide help and assistance to parties attending 

hearings. 

 

12.0 Role of Licensing  

 

12.1 The Licensing Officer will present the pertinent facts of 

the application and the representations made by parties 

to the hearing. 

 

12.2 The Licensing Officer shall provide the Sub-Committee 

with any advice it requires to properly perform its 

functions. 

 

12.3 The Licensing Officer may ask questions of witnesses and 

the parties in order to clarify the evidence and any issues 

in the case. 

 

Page 30



13.0 Failure of parties to attend the hearing 

 

13.1 If a party to the hearing has informed the Licensing 

Authority that he/she does not intend to attend or be 

represented at the hearing, the hearing may proceed in 

his/her absence and any properly made written 

submissions will be considered as part of the decision 

making process. 

 

13.2  If a party to the hearing fails to provide notification in 

accordance with paragraph 13.1 above, and fails to attend 

or be represented at a hearing, the Sub-Committee may: 

 

(a) where it considers it to be necessary in the public 

interest, adjourn the hearing to a specified date; or 

(b)  hold the hearing in the party’s absence and shall 

consider at the hearing, the application, relevant 

representations or notice made or submitted by 

that party. 

 

14.0 Adjournments 

 

14.1 Subject to the provisions of the Regulations, the Sub-

Committee may, where necessary for its consideration of 

any relevant representations or notice made by a party to 

the hearing, adjourn the hearing to a specified date. 

 

14.2  Where the Sub-Committee adjourns the hearing to a 

specified date, it shall forthwith notify the parties to the 

hearing of the date, time and place. 

 

15.0 Right of Appeal 

 

15.1 The all parties to a hearing have a right of appeal against 

a decision to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days 

Page 31



(beginning with the day on which the applicant was 

notified of the decision by the Licensing Authority). 

 

Definitions 

 

Term 

 

Meaning 

Applicant 

 

The holder of, or the person seeking 

the grant of, a licence, notice or other 

permission under the relevant 

Legislation. 

 

The premises user in relation to a 

temporary event notice (TEN) or 

temporary use notice (TUN). 

Interest 

 

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest as 

defined in the Council’s Members’ 

Code of Conduct. 

Other parties Any persons making relevant 

representations or any person who is 

representing such persons. 

Licensing Authority   East Hertfordshire District Council 

 

Parties to the 

Hearing  

 

The applicant and any parties that 

have made relevant representations or 

submitted a valid objection notice. 

Relevant 

Representations 

 

Representations (either in support of 

or against an application) that relate to 

one or more of the licensing objectives. 

Can be made by a Responsible 

Authority or other party. 

Responsible 

Authority 

 

The bodies that must be consulted 

regarding certain applications and that 

are entitled to make representations to 

the Licensing Authority. 
 

Page 32



 

  

East Herts Council Report 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 8th January 2021 

 

Report by:   Jonathan Geall, Head of Housing and Health 

 

Report Title:   Application for a New Premises Licence For Mr 

   Tom Wilkes / Waterbridge 2021, Waterbridge, 

   Frogmore Hill, Watton At Stone, Hertford  

   (20/0907/Pl) 

 

Ward(s) affected: Datchworth and Aston 

       

 

Summary 
 

 An application for a new premises licence has been made and 

representations against the application have been received 

from Hertfordshire Constabulary acting as a Responsible 

Authority. When representations have been received against 

an application and have not withdrawn, it is for a meeting of 

the Licensing Sub-Committee to decide that application. The 

report is to inform that decision. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

(a)  The application for a new premises licence is decided. 

 

1.0 Proposal(s) 
 

1.1 Members of the Licensing Sub-Committee should determine 

the application for a new premises licence through 

consideration of the information contained in this report and 

appendices combined with submissions made at the Licensing 

Sub-Committee hearing. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

  

2.0 Background 
 

2.1  Under the Licensing Act 2003 and the council’s policy  an 

application for a new or variation to a licence or certificate is 

granted by Officers under delegated authority if no valid 

representations are received.  

 

2.2 Where valid representations are received the Licensing 

Authority’s discretion is engaged. A Licensing Sub-Committee 

has the delegated authority to determine applications for new 

and varied licences and certificates. This decision must be 

made whilst having regard to the licensing objectives, the 

Licensing Authority’s own Statement of Licensing Policy and to 

statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State under 

section 182 of the Licensing Act.  

 

2.3 The licensing objectives are: 

 

 prevention of crime and disorder 

 public safety 

 prevention of public nuisance; and 

 protection of children from harm. 

 

3.0  Reason(s) 
 

3.1 The application for a new premises licence was submitted and 

completed by Mr Tom Wilkes on 29th October 2020. The 

application has been correctly advertised and consulted upon 

as required by legislation and regulations.   

 

3.2 The application requests the supply of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

  

Licensable 

Activity 

Day Hours 

applied for  

Plays 

Films 

Live Music 

Recorded 

Music  

and Opening 

hours 

 

Supply of 

Alcohol ( for 

consumption 

both on and 

the premises)  

 

Friday - Sunday  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Friday - Sunday 

10:00 – 23:00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11:00 – 23:00 

 

3.4 A redacted copy of the application form and supporting 

documents are attached as Appendix ‘A’. 

 

3.5 The Event Management Plan (EMP) describes that events are 

to be held fortnightly on Friday, Saturdays and / or Sundays 

between May and September 2021. 

 

3.6 Section 18 of the application form asks the applicant to 

describe any steps they intend to take to promote the four 

licensing objectives as a result of the application. The steps 

stated are: 

 

a) Suitable number of SIA and stewards employed 

b) CCTV covering the event spaces, retained for a minimum 

of 14 days and be produced on the request of the police 

c) The event will be entirely seated, allowing plenty of space 

for marshals and SIA to roam the viewing area. 

d) Incident book recording full details of all occurrences of 

disorder. 

e) No alcohol, weapons, fireworks (plus a number of other 

Page 35



 

  

prohibited items) allowed on site. 

f) The event will be on a secure site, and all present will have 

accreditation. 

g) Re-entry will be permitted to mitigate issues at the door. 

h) Entry times will be staggered to prevent build up of 

queues, and reduce risk of impatience and aggression. 

i) Customers will have the option to park, thus reducing the 

likelihood of crime and disorder in neighbouring areas 

and/or the local towns. 

j) Expectations will be managed in terms of event rules, 

COVID-secure guidelines and processes by publishing 

these details to ticket holders prior to the event. 

k) The premises will operate a Challenge 25 Policy and 

request photographic identification to anyone who 

appears to be under the age of 25. 

l) Primarily, the safety of all our guests, staff, contractors, 

suppliers, performers, and security is our main concern 

throughout the entire festival period. 

m) All guidelines around CV19 will be adhered to, along with 

best practice as advised in the Purple Guide and 

government website. 

n) Entry is only permitted up to the licensed capacity, 

checked by clickers on site. 

o) Site only opened once checked by Site, Event and Security 

management. 

p) Staff briefed and trained in Challenge 25 and their social 

and legal obligations and their responsibilities regarding 

the sale of alcohol. 

q) Free drinking water is made available at all times the 

premises is open to the public. 

r) All electrical, gas and other means of fuel are suitably 

tested prior to use on site. 

s) All food vendors vetted for certificates, insurance, RAMS 

and hygiene status prior to arrival on site 

t) Event and fire RA created and adhered to for each event. 

u) Adequate level of first aid provision on site. 

v) The numbers of attendees are small in comparison to the 

Page 36



 

  

existing license, and we anticipate only a small number of 

people may leave the site on foot after the event. We will 

look to add elements to the event to mitigate this where 

necessary (i.e. if we can finish later, add camping, 

introduce a shuttle service etc). 

w) Security staff to patrol perimeter and neighbouring 

hotspots regularly. 

x) Volume levels will be limited and monitored. 

y) Ample waste bins at exits to discourage littering offsite - 

no drinks permitted to be taken off site. 

z) Drinks to be supplied in reusable / single-use plastic 

(dependent on guidelines): no glass. 

aa) We anticipate a number of our events will be over 18s 

only, however we always adopt our in-house Safeguarding 

policy.  

bb) SIA staff are DBS checked, there is a lost/found persons 

procedure in use by the staff, the site is secure to prevent 

anyone. 

cc) leaving/gaining access to the site accidentally which is 

reinforced with accreditation to prove lawful access to site. 

dd) Challenge 25 in operation 

ee) No under 18s permitted without designated adult over 21 

ff) Only plastic cups or bottles on site - no glass 

 

3.7 During the 28 day statutory public consultation period the 

applicant varied his application in consultation with the 

Environmental Health to include the following additional steps 

to promote the licensing objectives: 

 

1. The event will run to the COVID restrictions in place at that 

time, with multiple dates across weekends in Summer 2021 

(from the 1st May 2021 to the 27th September 2021). The 

events will consist of outdoor cinemas, theatrical 

performances, family entertainment, live and DJ music and 

comedy.  

 

2. Events to be held every other weekend across the dates of the 

Page 37



 

  

1st May 2021 and the 27th September 2021 (except for 

August bank holiday weekend and the following 3/4/5th of 

September 2021 where both events are allowed). 

 

3.  Events to be held over two days on either a Friday, Saturday 

or Sunday. 

 

3.8 During the 28 day statutory public consultation period one 

valid objection was received from Hertfordshire Constabulary 

(Responsible Authority) against the application. This 

representation is attached as Appendix ‘B’. 

 

3.9 The main concerns of the Police are the number of events 

being proposed by the applicant, the impact to traffic, noise 

and litter to the neighbouring area. The representation 

engages the prevention of public nuisance, prevention of 

crime and disorder and public safety licensing objectives. 

 

3.10 The Police are requesting a significant reduction in the number 

of persons at the events (capacity) and the number of events 

being held at the premises. 

 

3.11 A plan of the area in which the premises is located is attached 

as Appendix ‘C’. This can be used to illustrate the location of 

the premises in relation to residents and other businesses. 

 

Policy and Guidance 

 

3.11 Section 4 of the East Herts Statement of Licensing Policy 

(herein ‘the Policy’) details definitions of premises and location 

and operation of premises (differentiating between Town 

Centre locations and other areas). Under this section of the 

Policy the operation under which the application best fits 

would be defined as ‘other entertainment venue’.  

 

3.12 The proposed premises are not in a Town Centre location so is 

classed as being in ‘other areas’. 

Page 38



 

  

 

3.13 The table at 4.3 of the Policy details this authority’s approach 

to hours for licensed premises when it has received relevant 

representations to an application. Notwithstanding that each 

application is considered on its own merits the following hours 

would normally be granted to a “café-bar” for the on sales and 

“off licence” for off sales in this type of location when valid and 

relevant representations have been received: 

 

May be limited to midnight 

 

3.14 Section 7.0 of the Policy contains information on how the 

licensing authority considers applications under the 

prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective. 

Paragraph 7.2 states:  

 

“The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to demonstrate 

how they will prevent disorderly conduct, prevent sale of alcohol to 

a person who is drunk, and prevent the obtaining of alcohol for a 

person who is drunk on the licensed premises, and how the licence 

holder will exercise these duties so as to prevent or reduce the risk 

of anti-social behaviour by customers occurring elsewhere after 

they have left the premises.” 

 

3.15 Section 8.0 of the Policy contains information on how the 

licensing authority considers applications under the public 

safety licensing objective. Paragraph 8.2 states “Conditions to 

promote public safety will be those that are appropriate, in 

particular circumstances of any individual premises or club 

premises, and will not duplicate other requirements of the law. 

Equally, the attachment of conditions to the premises licence or 

certificate will not in any way relieve employers of the statutory 

duty to comply with the requirements of other legislation including 

the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, Associated Regulations 

and especially the requirements under the management of Health 

and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 and Regulatory Reform (Fire 

Safety) Order 2004, to undertake risk assessments. Employers 

Page 39



 

  

should assess the risks, including risks from fire and take 

measures necessary to avoid and control these risks. Licence 

conditions enforcing those requirements will therefore not be 

attached.” 

 

3.16 Section 9.0 of the East Herts Statement of Licensing Policy 

relates to the prevention of public nuisance. Specifically 

section 9.3 of the policy states: 

 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate they 

have considered: 

 

1) the proximity of residential accommodation;  

2) the type of use proposed, and the likely numbers of 

customers;  

3) proposed hours of operation and the frequency of activity; 

4) the steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to 

prevent noise and vibration escaping from the premises, 

including music, noise from ventilation equipment, and 

human voices. This may include the installation of 

soundproofing, air conditioning, acoustic lobbies and sound 

limitation devices; 

5) the steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to 

prevent disturbance by customers arriving at or leaving the 

premises. This will usually be of greater importance between 

10 p.m. and 7 a.m. than at other times of the day;  

6) the steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to 

prevent queuing (either by pedestrian or vehicular traffic). If 

some queuing is inevitable then queues should be diverted 

away from neighbouring premises or be otherwise managed 

to prevent disturbance or obstruction;  

7) the steps taken or proposed to be taken by the applicant to 

help ensure patrons and staff leave the premises quietly;  

8) the arrangements made or proposed for parking by patrons, 

and the effect of parking by patrons on local residents; 

9) the provision for public transport in the locality (including 

taxis and private hire vehicles) for patrons; 

10) the level of likely disturbance from associated vehicle 

Page 40



 

  

movements;  

11) the use of smoking shelters, gardens and other open-air 

areas;  

12) the location of delivery and collection areas and 

delivery/collection times; 

13) the appropriate placing of external lighting, including security 

lighting;  

14) refuse storage and litter (including fly posters and illegal 

placards); 

15) the history of nuisance complaints against the premises, 

particularly where statutory notices have been served on the 

present licensees; 

16) the applicant’s past success in controlling anti-social 

behaviour and preventing nuisance; 

17) odour nuisance, e.g. cooking smells;  

18) any other relevant activity likely to give rise to nuisance;  

19) any representations made by the Police, or other relevant 

agency or representative; 

 

 This list is not exhaustive and the Licensing Authority remains 

aware of its obligation to consider each case on its merits.” 

 

3.24 Paragraph 9.37 and 9.38 of the government’s revised Guidance 

issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (herein ‘the 

Guidance’) states: 

 

As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus 

the hearing on the steps considered appropriate to promote the 

particular licensing objective or objectives that have given rise to 

the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed 

areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose to rely 

on their written representation. They may not add further 

representations to those disclosed to the applicant prior to the 

hearing, but they may expand on their existing representation and 

should be allowed sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and 

practicable limits. 

 

Page 41



 

  

 In determining the application with a view to promoting the 

licensing objectives the licensing authority must give appropriate 

weight to: 

 

 the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing 

objectives; 

 the representations (including supporting information) 

presented by all the parties; 

 this Guidance; 

 its own statement of licensing policy. 

 

3.25 Paragraphs 9.42-9.44 of the Guidance deal with how to 

determine actions that are appropriate for the promotion of 

the licensing objectives. 

 

3.26 If Members are minded to impose conditions to mitigate 

concerns regarding the undermining of the licensing objectives 

then Chapter 10 of the Guidance deals with conditions 

attached to premises licences. Paragraphs 10.8-10.10, 10.13-

10.15 would be particularly relevant. 

 

3.27 Chapter 11 of the Guidance deals with reviews and paragraphs 

11.16 – 11.23 are particularly relevant as it deals with the 

powers the licensing authority has to determine the 

application.  

 

Officer observations 

 

3.28 The Police are aware that the applicant has agreed conditions 

with Environmental Health meaning that the events will be 

every other weekend (except for August bank holiday and 3rd – 

5th September 2021) as opposed to the number originally 

applied for. 

 

3.29 If Members are minded to grant this application then it is 

recommended that the period for supply of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises is reduced by 20 minutes to 

Page 42



 

  

allow for drinking up time in order to support the crime and 

disorder licensing objective. 

 

3.30 It is recommended that should the application be granted that 

the following conditions are added: 

 

An Event Management Plan (EMP), including a Noise 

Management Plan and Traffic Management Plan, shall be 

submitted to the responsible authorities no less than 3 

months prior to the start of the event. The EMP must 

demonstrate that resourcing and infrastructure is based on 

the threat and risk of the event. The final version of the EMP 

must be supplied to all responsible authorities a minimum of 

21 days before the event takes place.   

 

Responsible authorities must notify the licence holder of any 

concerns with the final EMP within 10 working days of 

receiving it.  

 

Any changes proposed to the final EMP, later than 21 days 

prior to the event start date, must be circulated immediately to 

all responsible authorities for approval. 

 

In the event of any of the responsible authorities advising the 

licensing authority that the Event Management Plan (EMP) 

does not in their professional view satisfy the requirements to 

promote the four licensing objectives, the event will not 

proceed until such time as those requirements are met or the 

responsible authority confirms they are.  

 

3.31 As stated in the Guidance the authority’s decision should be 

evidence-based, justified as being appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to 

what it is intended to achieve. 

 

3.32 If Members believe that the application would not undermine 

any of the licensing objectives then the application should be 

Page 43



 

  

granted as requested. 

 

3.33 Members should consider if they believe the applicant has 

provided evidence that the licence if granted would promote 

and not undermine the licensing objectives. This evidence 

should be balanced against the evidence given by those 

making representations that the licensing objectives would be 

undermined. 

 

3.34 If Members believe that there is evidence that the granting of 

the licence would not promote the licensing objectives then it 

is within their remit to take the action they believe is 

appropriate and proportionate to address their concerns. 

Members can attach conditions or take any steps they believe 

appropriate to promote the licensing objectives including: 

limiting the days, limiting the hours or even refusing the 

application in its entirety. 

 

3.35 Put in its simplest terms, what are the minimum measures that 

can be put in place to address the concerns? Refusal of the 

application should be the last option considered. 

 

3.36 If additional conditions are considered, Members should 

decide whether these steps would in fact address their 

concerns if the decision was made to grant the hours 

requested.  

 

3.37 Members may wish to seek the opinion of the applicant on any 

proposed conditions to clarify which are agreeable so that the 

hearing can focus on those which are disputed. 

 

3.38 For conditions to be enforceable they need to be clear, 

unambiguous and free from subjective terms. If a condition 

cannot be enforced then it should not be placed on any 

granted licence. 

 

4.0  Options 
 

Page 44



 

  

4.1 The actions open to the Licensing Sub-Committee are: 

 

 grant the application if they feel the application would 

promote and not undermine the licensing objectives; or 

 grant the application as sought but at the same time 

impose additional conditions or amend the times for the 

supply of alcohol; or 

 if Members believe that there is evidence that shows that 

there are no steps that can be taken to ensure that the 

application sought would promote the licensing objectives 

then the application should be refused. 

 

4.2 When the Licensing Sub-Committee gives its decision to those 

in attendance it should be made clear to all parties how much 

weight has been attached to each submission and why and 

what evidence Members have relied upon when reaching their 

decision. 

 

5.0 Risks 
 

5.1 A decision on the application must be made and any decision 

made can be appealed at the Magistrate’s Court. Therefore the 

Licensing Sub-Committee should ensure that when giving their 

decision on the application they give clear reasons on how and 

why they have made their decision. In doing so, the council’s 

ability to defend its decision is strengthened and the risk of its 

decision being over-turned on appeal is lessened, although, of 

course, this risk can never be entirely removed. 

 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 
 

6.1 There has been a statutory 28 day public consultation. 

 

Community Safety 

The report details the four licensing objectives, these objectives are 

detailed in paragraph 2.3, therefore Community Safety will be 

considered when determining the application. 

Page 45



 

  

 

Data Protection 

Where the appendices originally contained personal data this has 

been redacted. 

 

Equalities 

Consideration has made to the Equality Act 2010 and the Public 

Sector Equality Duty in this report and will be considered during the 

Licensing Sub-Committee hearing. 

 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

 

Financial 

There will be a cost to the authority in holding the Licensing Sub-

Committee hearing, this will be covered by the existing budget.  

There would be a cost if the decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee 

is appealed to the Magistrates Court and the authority chooses to 

defend that appeal. 

 

Health and Safety 

No 

 

Human Resources 

No 

 

Human Rights 

As with all applications and Council functions, the Human Rights Act 

1998 has been considered in this report and will be considered 

during the Licensing Sub-Committee hearing. 

 

Legal 

All statutory requirements have been considered in preparing this 

report. 

 

Specific Wards 

Yes – Datchworth and Aston 

Page 46



 

  

 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant 

material 
 

7.1 Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing 

Act 2003 (April 2018) - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/s

ystem/uploads/attachment_data/file/705327/Revised_guidanc

e_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April

_2018_.pdf 

 

7.2 East Herts Statement of Licensing Policy 2016 – 

https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-

public/documents/Statement_of_Licensing_Policy.pdf 

 

7.3 Night Time Economy (NTE) Position Statement –  

https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-

public/documents/Night_Time_Economy_NTE_Position_Statem

ent.pdf 

 

7.4 Appendix ‘A’ – Application for a New Premise Licence, including 

plans of the premises. 

 

7.5 Appendix ‘B’ – Representations against the application. 

 

7.6 Appendix ‘C’ – Map showing location of the premises. 

 

Contact Member 

Councillor Peter Boylan – Executive Member for Neighbourhoods 

peter.boylan@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Contact Officer   

Jonathan Geall – Head of Housing and Health, Tel: 01992 531594 

jonathan.geall@eastherts.gov.uk   

 

Report Author 

Brad Wheeler – Senior Licensing and Enforcement Officer, Tel: 01992 

531520 brad.wheeler@eastherts.gov.uk   

Page 47

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705327/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705327/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705327/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705327/Revised_guidance_issued_under_section_182_of_the_Licensing_Act_2003__April_2018_.pdf
https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-public/documents/Statement_of_Licensing_Policy.pdf
https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-public/documents/Statement_of_Licensing_Policy.pdf
https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-public/documents/Night_Time_Economy_NTE_Position_Statement.pdf
https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-public/documents/Night_Time_Economy_NTE_Position_Statement.pdf
https://cdn-eastherts.onwebcurl.com/s3fs-public/documents/Night_Time_Economy_NTE_Position_Statement.pdf
mailto:peter.boylan@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.geall@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:brad.wheeler@eastherts.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

East Hertfordshire

Application for a premises licence

Licensing Act 2003

For help contact

community.protection@eastherts.gov.uk

Telephone: 01279 655261 

* required information

Section 1 of 21

You can save the form at any time and resume it later. You do not need to be logged in when you resume.

System reference Not Currently In Use
This is the unique reference for this 
application generated by the system.

Your reference Covid Wilkestock 2021 
You can put what you want here to help you 

track applications if you make lots of them. It 

is passed to the authority.

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant?

Yes No

Put "no" if you are applying on your own 

behalf or on behalf of a business you own or 

work for.

Applicant Details

* First name Tom

* Family name Wilkes

* E-mail

Main telephone number Include country code.

Other telephone number

Indicate here if you would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Are you:

Applying as a business or organisation, including as a sole trader

Applying as an individual

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.  
Applying as an individual means you are 
applying so you can be employed, or for 
some other personal reason, such as 
following a hobby.

Page 49



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Your Address

* Building number or name

* Street  

District

* City or town  

County or administrative area

* Postcode

* Country United Kingdom

Address official correspondence should be 

sent to.

Section 2 of 21

PREMISES DETAILS

I/we, as named in section 1, apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises 

described in section 2 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority 

in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Premises Address

Are you able to provide a postal address, OS map reference or description of the premises?

Address OS map reference Description

Address Description

Field of Waterbridge 

Further Details

Telephone number

Non-domestic rateable 
value of premises (£) 0

Page 50



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Section 3 of 21

APPLICATION DETAILS

In what capacity are you applying for the premises licence?

An individual or individuals

A limited company / limited liability partnership

A partnership (other than limited liability)

An unincorporated association

Other (for example a statutory corporation)

A recognised club

A charity

The proprietor of an educational establishment

A health service body

A person who is registered under part 2 of the Care Standards Act 

2000 (c14) in respect of an independent hospital in Wales

A person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2008 in respect of the carrying on of a regulated 

activity (within the meaning of that Part) in an independent hospital in 

England

The chief officer of police of a police force in England and Wales

Confirm The Following

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves 

the use of the premises for licensable activities

I am making the application pursuant to a statutory function

I am making the application pursuant to a function discharged by 

virtue of Her Majesty's prerogative

Section 4 of 21

INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT DETAILS

Applicant Name

Is the name the same as (or similar to) the details given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 

from section one, or amend them as required. 

Select “No” to enter a completely new set of 

details.

First name Tom

Family name Wilkes

Is the applicant 18 years of age or older?

Yes No

Page 51



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Current Residential Address

Is the address the same as (or similar to) the address given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 

from section one, or amend them as 

required.  Select “No” to enter a completely 

new set of details.

Building number or name  

Street  

District

City or town  

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country United Kingdom

Applicant Contact Details

Are the contact details the same as (or similar to) those given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 

from section one, or amend them as 

required.  Select “No” to enter a completely 

new set of details.

E-mail

Telephone number

Other telephone number

* Date of birth / /
 dd               mm             yyyy

* Nationality
Documents that demonstrate entitlement to 

work in the UK

Right to work share code
Right to work share code if not submitting 

scanned documents

Add another applicant

Section 5 of 21

OPERATING SCHEDULE

When do you want the 

premises licence to start?
01 / 01 / 2021

 dd               mm             yyyy

If you wish the licence to be 

valid only for a limited period, 

when do you want it to end
02 / 01 / 2022

 dd               mm             yyyy

Provide a general description of the premises

Page 52



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

For example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other information which could be relevant to the 

licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for 

consumption of these off- supplies you must include a description of where the place will be and its proximity to the 

premises.

The field of Waterbridge currently holds a long standing premises licence for 3 festivals of 3 days and nights for a capacity of 

4950 each day. Due to CV19 we have not been able to hold any events in 2020: even a smaller scale Wilkestock charity 

music festival - which is our flagship event - was unable to go ahead. 

 

During the summer (May to end of Septemeber) 2021 we would like to hold a number of COVID-secure events at a smaller 

scale, of a shorter nature for the local and wider community. These events would be low in numbers from 500 to 1500 

persons. Utilising the same space that is already licensed, this license would be based on a seated COVID-secure layout. 

Each event would take place on a Friday, Saturday and/or Sunday and finish at 11pm. There will be no overnight camping, 

and will adapt to run in line with the current government COVID-19 regulations at the time of the event. The events will be 

a mix of open air cinema, comedy, music and family based events. Each event on one stage with similar, socially-distanced 

layout for all events. Each event's EMP will be specific to the capacity and nature of the event,  and we have attached a 

music example to this application. This license will be used in cases where the existing license is not applicable. 

If 5,000 or more people are 

expected to attend the 

premises at any one time, 

state the number expected to 

attend

Section 6 of 21

PROVISION OF PLAYS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing plays?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

Page 53



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the performance of a play take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 

structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 

include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 

exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

Amplified music with family themed events on a single stage 

State any seasonal variations for performing plays

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

May to end of September 2021, after this period we hope covid19 will be over 

Non standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the performance of a play at different times from those listed in 

the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 7 of 21

PROVISION OF FILMS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing films?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings
Page 54



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 

structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 

include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 

exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

Open air cinema 

State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of film

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

May to end of September 2021, after this period we hope covid19 will be over 

Page 55



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Non standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the exhibition of film at different times from those listed in the 

column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 8 of 21

PROVISION OF INDOOR SPORTING EVENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing indoor sporting events?

Yes No

Section 9 of 21

PROVISION OF BOXING OR WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing boxing or wrestling entertainments?

Yes No

Section 10 of 21

PROVISION OF LIVE MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing live music?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End
Page 56



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the performance of live music take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 

structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 

include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 

exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

With be covid secure and adapt to current regulations 

State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

May to end of September 2021, after this period we hope covid19 will be over 

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the performance of live music at different times from those listed 

in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 11 of 21

PROVISION OF RECORDED MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing recorded music?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings
Page 57



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the playing of recorded music take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 

structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 

include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 

exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

With be covid secure and adapt to current regulations 

State any seasonal variations for playing recorded music

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

May to end of September 2021, after this period we hope covid19 will be over 

Page 58



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the playing of recorded music at different times from those listed 

in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 12 of 21

PROVISION OF PERFORMANCES OF DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing performances of dance?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Page 59



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the performance of dance take place indoors or outdoors or both?

Indoors Outdoors Both

Where taking place in a building or other 

structure tick as appropriate. Indoors may 

include a tent.

State type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further details, for example (but not 

exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.

With be covid secure and adapt to current regulations

State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

May to end of September 2021, after this period we hope covid19 will be over 

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the performance of dance at different times from those listed in 

the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 13 of 21

PROVISION OF ANYTHING OF A SIMILAR DESCRIPTION TO LIVE MUSIC, RECORDED MUSIC OR PERFORMANCES OF 

DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing anything similar to live music, recorded music or 

performances of dance?

Yes No

Section 14 of 21

LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT

Will you be providing late night refreshment?

Yes No

Section 15 of 21

SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

Will you be selling or supplying alcohol?

Yes No
Page 60



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 11:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 11:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 11:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the sale of alcohol be for consumption:

On the premises Off the premises Both

If the sale of alcohol is for consumption on 

the premises select on, if the sale of alcohol 

is for consumption away from the premises 

select off. If the sale of alcohol is for 

consumption on the premises and away 

from the premises select both.

State any seasonal variations

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

summer based covid secure and to current government regulations. May to end of September 2021, after this period we 

hope covid19 will be over 

Page 61



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the supply of alcohol at different times from those listed in the 

column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the 

licence as premises supervisor

Name

First name Tom 

Family name Wilkes 

Date of birth / /
 dd               mm             yyyy

Enter the contact's address

Building number or name

Street

District

City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country United Kingdom

Personal Licence number 

(if known)

Issuing licensing authority 

(if known) East Herts

PROPOSED DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR CONSENT

How will the consent form of the proposed designated premises  supervisor 

be supplied to the authority? 

Electronically, by the proposed designated premises supervisor

As an attachment to this application

Reference number for consent 

form (if known)

If the consent form is already submitted, ask 

the proposed designated premises 

supervisor for its 'system reference' or 'your 

reference'.Page 62



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Section 16 of 21

ADULT ENTERTAINMENT

Highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, or other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use of the 

premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children

Give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the premises which may give 

rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to have access to the premises, for example 

(but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups etc gambling machines etc.

Section 17 of 21

HOURS PREMISES ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start End

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 

(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 

of the week when you intend the premises 

to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start End

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start End

Start End

THURSDAY

Start End

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 10:00 End 23:00

Start End

State any seasonal variations
Page 63



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises to be open to the members and guests at different times from 

those listed in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 18 of 21

LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:

a) General – all four licensing objectives (b,c,d,e)

List here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

- COVID-secure event as in line with government guidelines, with guidance from EIF, the Purple Guide, the government 

website and DCMS. This licence is to be used between May and end of September 2021 when we hope Covid19 will then be 

over. 

b) The prevention of crime and disorder

Suitable number of SIA and stewards employed 

CCTV covering the event spaces, retained for a minimum of 14 days and be produced on the request of the police 

The event will be entirely seated, allowing plenty of space for marshals and SIA to roam the viewing area.  

Incident book recording full details of all occurrences of disorder 

No alcohol, weapons, fireworks (plus a number of other prohibited items) allowed on site 

The event will be on a secure site, and all present will have accreditation.  

Re-entry will be permitted to mitigate issues at the door.  

Entry times will be staggered to prevent build up of queues, and reduce risk of impatience and aggression. 

Customers will have the option to park, thus reducing the likelihood of crime and disorder in neighbouring areas and/or the 

local towns.  

Expectations will be managed in terms of event rules, COVID-secure guidelines and processes by publishing these details to 

ticket holders prior to the event.

c) Public safety

Primarily, the safety of all our guests, staff, contractors, suppliers, performers, and security is our main concern throughout 

the entire festival period.  

All guidelines around CV19 will be adhered to, along with best practice as advised in the Purple Guide and government 

website.  

Entry is only permitted up to the licensed capacity, checked by clickers on site 

Site only opened once checked and OKd by Site, Event and Security management 

Staff briefed and trained in Challenge 25 and their social and legal obligations and their responsibilities regarding the sale 

of alcohol 

Free drinking water is made available at all times the premises is open to the public Page 64



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

All electrical, gas and other means of fuel are suitably tested prior to use on site 

All food vendors vetted for certificates, insurance, RAMS and hygiene status prior to arrival on site 

Event and fire RA created and adhered to for each event 

Adequate level of first aid provision on site

d) The prevention of public nuisance

The numbers of attendees are small in comparison to the existing license, and we anticipate only a small number of people 

may leave the site on foot after the event.  We will look to add elements to the event to mitigate this where necessary (i.e. if 

we can finish later, add camping, introduce a shuttle service etc). 

Security staff to patrol perimeter and neighbouring hotspots regularly 

Volume levels will be limited and monitored  

Ample waste bins at exits to discourage littering offsite - no drinks permitted to be taken off site 

Drinks to be supplied in resusable / single-use plastic (dependent on guidelines): no glass 

e) The protection of children from harm

We anticipate a number of our events will be over 18s only, however we always adopt our in-house Safeguarding policy. SIA 

staff are DBS checked, there is a lost/found persons procedure in use by the staff, the site is secure to prevent anyone 

leaving/gaining access to the site accidentally which is reinforced with accreditation to prove lawful access to site 

 

Challenge 25 in operation 

No under 18s permitted without designated adult over 21 

Only plastic cups or bottles on site - no glass 

Section 19 of 21

NOTES ON DEMONSTRATING ENTITLEMENT TO WORK IN THE UK

Page 65



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications from partnerships which are not 

limited liability partnerships:  

A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident in the UK who:  

 • does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or  

 • is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable 

 activity.  

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will become invalid if the holder 

ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.  

Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not subject to a condition preventing 

them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. They do this in one of two ways: 1) by providing 

with this application copies or scanned copies of the documents listed below (which do not need to be certified), or 2) by 

providing their 'share code' to enable the licensing authority to carry out a check using the Home Office online right to work 

checking service (see below). 

Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK 

 • An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of the 

 holder, is A British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies having the right of abode in the UK [please see 

 note below about which sections of the passport to copy].  

 • An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a person named in the passport 

 as the child of the holder, is a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the Home Office to a national 

 of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a national of a European  

 Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 

 holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their  

 stay in the UK. 

 • A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration control, is allowed to stay 

 indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK. 

• A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with an endorsement 

 indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in 

 the UK, when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National  

 Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.  

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK, when produced in combination with an official document 

 giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency 

 or a previous employer. 

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland when produced in  

 combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their  

 name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in combination with an 

 official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a  

 Government agency or a previous employer. 

Page 66



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and is currently allowed to 

 work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a  

 licensable activity.   

• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 

 holder which indicates that the named person can currently stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to  

 the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

• A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a national of a European Economic  

 Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights or 

 residence. 

• A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home Office to the holder  

 with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in the UK, and is allowed to work and is not  

 subject  to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity  

 when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance  

 number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office under regulation 18(3) or 20(2)  

 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016, to a  person who is not a national of a  

 European Economic Area  state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has  

 derivative rights of residence.  

• Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their permission to be in the UK  

 with the Home Office such as the Home Office acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or  

 reasonable evidence that the person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration  

 decision, such as an appeal or administrative review reference number. 

• Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area state or Switzerland but  

 who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in 

 the UK including:-  

• evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,  

• evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member – e.g. a marriage  

 certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and 

• evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent residence in the UK or is one  

 of the following if they have been in the UK for more than 3 months: 

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer, 

(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank, 

(iii) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of sufficient funds; or 

(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements. 

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially independent must also provide 

evidence that the European Economic Area national and any family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the 

UK. This can include a private medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form. 

Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a passport, a copy of the 

following pages should be provided:- 

(i) any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality; 

(ii) any page containing the holder’s photograph; 

(iii) any page containing the holder’s signature; 

(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and 

(v) any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in the UK and is permitted to 

work.  

 

Page 67



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided. 

Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us checking your immigration 

status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information with the Home Office. Your licence application will not be 

determined until you have complied with this guidance.  

  

 Home Office online right to work checking service 

  

As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may demonstrate their right to work by 

allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home Office online right to work checking service.  

  

To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, applicants should include in 

this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon accessing the service at https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-

to-work) which, along with the applicant's date of birth (provided within this application), will allow the licensing authority 

to carry out the check.  

  

In order to establish the applicant's right to work, the check will need to indicate that the applicant is allowed to work in the 

United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a 

licensable activity. 

  

An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have an immigration status that can 

be checked online. The Home Office online right to work checking service sets out what information and/or documentation 

applicants will need in order to access the service. Applicants who are unable to obtain a share code from the service 

should submit copy documents as set out above.  

 

Section 20 of 21

NOTES ON REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT

Page 68



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:  

• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience  

 does not exceed 500. 

• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises  between 08.00 and  

 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the  

 screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides  

 by age classification ratings. 

• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided  

 that the audience does not exceed 1000.     

• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman  

 wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not  

 exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which combines boxing or  

 wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an  

 indoor sporting event. 

• Live music: no licence permission is required for: 

o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises. 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell  

 alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not  

 licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  

 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  

 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  

 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises 

 of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500,  

 and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local  

 authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell alcohol  

 for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  

 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  

 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  

 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises of (i) a  

 local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 

 the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority  

 concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

Page 69



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the  

 audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to adult entertainment remains  

 licensable. 

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on  

 audience size for:    

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is provided 

 by or on behalf of the local authority;  

o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the  

 entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;  

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or  

 on behalf of the school proprietor; and 

o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a travelling  

 circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and  

 (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Section 21 of 21

PAYMENT DETAILS

This fee must be paid to the authority. If you complete the application online, you must pay it by debit or credit card.

Fees for all Licensing Act 2003 permissions have been set by central government. The fees are based on the non-domestic 

rateable value of the premises. These are divided into 5 bands: band a NDRV £0 - £4300, fee = £100 band b NDRV £4,301 - 

£33,000, fee = £190 band c NDRV £33,001 - £87,000, fee = £315 band d NDRV £87,000 - £125,000, fee = £450 band e NDRV 

£125,001 and over, fee = £635 

To find out a premises non domestic rateable value go to the Valuation Office Agency site at http://www.voa.gov.uk/

business_rates/index.htm 

Band A - No RV to £4300 £100.00 

Band B - £4301 to £33000 £190.00 

Band C - £33001 to £8700 £315.00 

Band D - £87001 to £12500 £450.00* 

Band E - £125001 and over £635.00* 

*If the premises rateable value is in Bands D or E and the premises is primarily used for the consumption of alcohol on the 

premises then your are required to pay a higher fee 

Band D - £87001 to £12500 £900.00 

Band E - £125001 and over £1,905.00 

There is an exemption from the payment of fees in relation to the provision of regulated entertainment only at church halls, 

chapel halls or premises of a similar nature, village halls, parish or community halls, or other premises of a similar nature. The 

costs associated with these licences will be met by central Government. If, however, the licence also authorises the use of 

the premises for the supply of alcohol or the provision of late night refreshment, a fee will be required. 

Schools and sixth form colleges are exempt from the fees associated with the authorisation of regulated entertainment 

where the entertainment is provided by and at the school or college and for the purposes of the school or college. 

If you operate a large event you are subject to ADDITIONAL fees based upon the number in attendance at any one time 

Capacity 5000-9999 £1,000.00 

Capacity 10000 -14999 £2,000.00 

Capacity 15000-19999 £4,000.00 

Capacity 20000-29999 £8,000.00 

Capacity 30000-39000 £16,000.00 

Capacity 40000-49999 £24,000.00 

Capacity 50000-59999 £32,000.00 

Capacity 60000-69999 £40,000.00 

Capacity 70000-79999 £48,000.00 

Capacity 80000-89999 £56,000.00 

Capacity 90000 and over £64,000.00

* Fee amount (£) 100.00Page 70



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

ATTACHMENTS

AUTHORITY POSTAL ADDRESS

Address

Building number or name

Street

District

City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country United Kingdom

DECLARATION

* 

[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership which is not a limited liability partnership] I 

understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and work in the UK (or if I 

am subject to a condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and that my 

licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please read guidance note 15)

* 

The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to conditions preventing him or 

her from doing work relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her proof of entitlement to work, if 

appropriate (please see note 15)

Ticking this box indicates you have read and understood the above declaration

This section should be completed by the applicant, unless you answered "Yes" to the question "Are you an agent acting on 

behalf of the applicant?”

* Full name

* Capacity

Date   (dd/mm/yyyy)

Add another signatory

Once you're finished you need to do the following: 

1. Save this form to your computer by clicking file/save as...

2. Go back to  https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/east-hertfordshire/apply-1 to upload this file and 

continue with your application.

Don't forget to make sure you have all your supporting documentation to hand.

Page 71



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

IT IS AN OFFENCE LIABLE TO SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE 

LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION  

  

IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY 

KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF 

THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO 

CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, 

ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN 

OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE 

IS DISQUALIFIED

Page 72



 

 

 
 
 

 

Waterbridge 2021 
COVID-Secure Events  

 
4 Acre Field,​ ​Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton At Stone, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG14 3RR 

 

 
 

Event Safety Management Plan 

 
May - September 2021 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
UPDATE LOG 

Date  Initials  Details 

     

 
   

Written by Created 9 October 2020 Updated 29 October 2020 

 
Page 73



 

Introduction 4 

Event Overview 5 

The Site 8 

Detailed site plan 9 
Event Space(s) 9 
Build & Break 9 
Site Fencing 9 
Sanitation 9 

Toilets 9 
Showers 10 

Camping 10 
Signage 10 
Vehicle Movement 10 
Water 10 

General site safety policy 11 

Insurance details 11 

Management structure 12 
Key Personnel 12 
Roles & Responsibilities 12 

Event Control 15 
Communication 15 
Event Management Approach 15 
Incident Management 16 
Transfer of Authority 16 

Event Schedule 17 
Build and breakdown 17 
Temporary Structures 17 
Accreditation 18 
Arrival & Ingress 18 

Contractors 20 
Catering & Non-Food Traders 21 

Local Community Impact 21 

Public Information 21 

Appendices 23 
A. COVID (Coronavirus / CV-19) Policy and Risk Assessment 23 

Admission, and Test and Trace 23 
Staff & Contractors 23 
Cleaning 24 
Distancing and Traffic-Flow 24 
Signage 24 
Structure 24 
Suspected Cases 24 
Toilets 24 

Page 2 
Page 74



B. Traffic management plan 25 
C. Entry policy and procedure 26 
D. Security assessment, operations and deployment plan 27 

Site Considerations 27 
Communication 27 
Staffing 27 
Surrounding Area 27 
CCTV 27 

E. Weapons policy and Drugs policy including psychoactive substances 28 
F. Eviction policy and procedure 29 
G. Emergency protocols and Crowd management plan 30 

Crowd Management Plan 30 
Major Incident Plan 31 
Evacuation Procedure 32 

Localised Area Evacuation 32 
Venue/Site-Wide Evacuation 32 

Loss of Lighting Procedure 33 
Terrorism 33 

Bomb Threat or Suspicious Package 34 
Public Disorder 34 
Hazardous Substances (deliberate release) 34 

H. Extreme weather procedure and action plan 36 
I. Fire safety plan and procedure 39 

Fire Risk Assessment 39 
Fire Extinguishers 41 
Water Points / IBCs 41 
Fire Emergency Plan 41 

J. Noise management plan 42 
K. Waste management plan 44 
L. Medical provisions plan 45 
M. Bar management and Alcohol policy 46 
N. Safeguarding policy and plan 47 
O. Lost / Found Persons Procedure 48 

Missing Person 48 
Found Person 48 
Guidance for Event Manager 49 

P. Show Stop Procedure 51 
Q. Available Car Parking area 52 
R. Trader List 52 
S. Site Map 53 
Z. Clarification Points 54 

   

Page 3 
Page 75



Introduction 

Mellyvents, working with landowner Tom Wilkes, has been appointed to provide event management,                         

safety plans and services for the proposed event project known as Waterbridge 2021 [working title] to                               

be undertaken at Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, SG14 3RR across the spring/summer 2021 period. 

 

For the purpose of this document, created solely as a template model for the event site and license                                   

application, the event will be referred to as ‘Waterbridge 2021’. 

 

This Event Safety Management Plan includes policies and control measures that have been created                           

to provide the necessary safety and environmental precautions associated with the event. The CV19                           

risk assessment is a dynamic document and is subject to development through the planning                           

processes, encouraging input from any relevant responsible authorities or SAG processes as                       

appropriate. 

 

This document has been drafted based on extensive knowledge of the event site, events industry and                               

experience of the application of statutory regulation and guidance including the Purple Guide,                         

government and local authority advice on the ongoing CV19 pandemic, other relevant                       

documentation and guidance. A practical, pragmatic and realistic approach has been taken to the                           

CV19 risk assessment based on this experience and knowledge. 

   

Page 4 
Page 76



Event Overview 

Waterbridge’s COVID-Secure Event project is a new concept in response to the ongoing COVID-19                           

pandemic. It’s a seated, socially-distanced single arena, with multiple dates across weekends in                         

Summer 2021. The events will consist of outdoor cinemas, theatrical performances, family                       

entertainment, live music and comedy. 

 

This document has been created based on the government guidelines, correct as of the last updated                               

date on the title page. 

 

The event site premises license, to be held by Tom Wilkes, will be used to operate a series of in-house                                       

and promoter-led events between May and September 2021. The event site, whether in-house or                           

externally promoted, will be managed and operated by Tom Wilkes and/or at all times.                             

It is of utmost importance we maintain a COVID-secure environment at all times, whilst maintaining                             

our fantastic relationship with local residents, authorities and suppliers; utilising our proven track                         

record of superb event management, customer experience and, above all,  customer and staff safety. 

 

The event site will operate as separate sessions fortnightly on Fridays, Saturdays and/or Sundays                           

between May and September 2021. Operating for 500 to 1500 customers and staff on site for each                                 

event, the event is laid out to accommodate seated groups with access to food and beverage, plus                                 

sanitation, welfare and on-site parking. 

 

In addition, the CV-19 plans are based upon current UK Government Guidance for England, as well as                                 

the DCMS approved Event industry guidance published by the Event Industry Forum. 

 

The proposals contained in this document are not necessarily final but give an indication to the                               

appropriate procedures for an event of this nature. These will be shared with the relevant responsible                               

statutory authorities and their feedback will be incorporated into dynamic updates of the overall final                             

event safety plan. Any subsequent changes will be recorded in the event log and communicated to                               

relevant stakeholders where applicable; the log is available to all statutory bodies on site. 

 

Per current government guidelines regarding COVID-19:  

*items in blue are based on guidelines correct as of 25 October 2020 

● The event will operate with a 10pm curfew 

● Groups will  

○ be seated in an area designated solely for that party, distanced 2m in all directions from                               

the next party 

○ sit a party no larger than 6, from any number of households 

○ order food and beverage via an online app-ordering service: no queuing or self-service                         

F&B will be on offer 

Page 5 
Page 77



○ be permitted to sing in groups of no more than 6, however encouragement of this                             

from performers will be prohibited 

 

● Groups will not 

○ be permitted to dance 

○ be permitted to interact with other groups 

○ be able to move seats* / join other tables 

○ be able to leave their area, except to use the toilet facilities or to exit 

 

* the only time moving seats would be permissible is if the area being moved to has been sanitised /                                       

unused, and the area they leave is immediately cleaned for reuse if applicable, or clearly marked not                                 

available for use i.e. ‘to be cleaned’  

 

The majority of tickets will be sold in advance via online ticketing platforms, and will be sold by the                                     

table rather than per person. The customer has to provide adequate information such as name,                             

address, mobile and email address upon purchase. We will use the government NHS COVID-19 app                             

for use upon entry to this event (or keep paper copies where this is not possible). This will feature as                                       

an entry condition during the checkout process. 

 

Tables sold for each event are assessed daily and sales can be stopped at any time to ensure                                   

capacities are controlled, and comply with any national/local measures in place. A small proportion of                             

tickets (circa 5%) may be sold ‘on the door’ if any allocation remains available, and it is safe for us to do                                           

so. 

  

Access to the event site is limited by the capacity determined in the Premises Licence and restricted                                 

to legitimate ticket holders purchased in advance of the event via the online portal or to those who                                   

purchase a ticket on the gate.  

 

Admission will be subject to ROAR for all ticket holders. Every person entering the site will be                                 

clicked-in using hand tally counters. There will be no admission or readmission after 20:00.  

 

The target market: 

 

● Will live within a 20 mile radius of Stevenage/Hertford 

● Are likely to be aware of events that already take place on the site, as we will promote via social                                       

media to these markets 

● Are likely to purchase in advance via our website, as a high percentage of marketing will take                                 

place online 

● Are predominantly aged 20 - 40 

● The gender split is likely to be slightly more male than female, we envision a 60:40 split 

Page 6 
Page 78



● The majority of new customers tend to hear about the event via word of mouth, so choose to                                   

come through recommendations rather than advertising 

● Are interested in live  music / outdoor cinema / family oriented events / comedy events   

Page 7 
Page 79



The Site 

The event comprises: socially distanced benches; bars; food and beverage concessions; one stage; a                           
car park; temporary toilet facilities; medical / welfare facilities; security office and a FOH site/event                             
control office. 
 
Due to current guidelines, the area required to seat 1500 distanced on tables of 6 is approximately                                 
4000 sqm. This number of tables (250) can fit comfortably using half of the back field space, with the                                     
other half available for more than enough queuing space for 1500. The other parts of the site are then                                     
available for bars, toilets, food and others such as first aid, security and event control. 
 
The space is grassed and has excellent drainage. The site is relatively flat, with one shallow hillside                                 
leading to some wooded areas. The licensed area is greater than the area that will be used by the                                     
event, so temporary fencing will create a perimeter with several good-sized entrances / exits created,                             
plus distanced queuing systems. 
 
For previous events, we have comfortably parked 350 cars on site. For these events, we envisage 1500                                 
customers on 200 tables will arrive 70% by car (140 tables) each arriving in 1 or 2 cars (280 vehicles).                                       
We will sell parking tickets in advance and, in the unlikely case that numbers exceed 350, we will                                   
open an additional field for parking.  

   

Page 8 
Page 80



Detailed site plan 

*see appendix S​ (draft CAD map - full plan will be created per event) 
 

Event Space(s) 
● Up to 250 socially distanced benches, 2m apart 
● Series of walkways and holding areas with one way systems in place, 2m wide 
● Table-service food and drink using an online app-ordering service 
● Stage - no dancefloor or standing areas as leaving the table will not be allowed 
● Separate area for bar, food, toilets and onsite services 

 

Build & Break 
It is planned for larger structures to be erected and dismantled only once across the event period, as                                   
it will stay in place for the summer (i.e. stage, tents). The tables and traders will change per event, and                                       
will be loaded in and out approximately two days either side of the event. For more please refer to                                     
Build and Breakdown​ in the Event Schedule section. 

 

Site Fencing 
3 types of barrier systems are available to event sites; the lightweight crowd control barrier (CCB) – or                                   
pedestrian barrier; the larger panel heras event site line fencing; and the Mojo type barrier necessary                               
to provide an adequate safe environment at the front of any stages where pressure from the                               
audience may be applied. The latter is also known as the Front of Stage Barriers System (FoSBS), or                                   
pit barrier. 
 
All barriers and fences on or at the perimeter of the site will be appropriately constructed using the                                   
correct type of barrier that is fit for purpose. It will be doubled up in areas of weakness to reduce the                                         
likelihood of trespassers. Heras lined walkways will be erected around the main event space for quick                               
access by emergency services and security buggies.  
 
Heras fences will be erected around any generators, and either heras or CCB around tower lights to                                 
avoid tampering. 

 

Sanitation 

Toilets 
An adequate number of temporary toilets and trailers will be provided, with additional facilities in                             
order to close some for more regular cleaning. The requirement will be for up to 1500 attendees                                 
present at any one time: the gender mix at 60:40 male to female split; and on the basis that there are                                         
likely to be reasonably high levels of food and drink consumption.  
 
Purple Guide: 

  Female Toilets  Male Toilets 

For events with a gate opening time 
of 6 hours or more with alcohol and 
food served in quantity 

1 per 75  1 per 400, 
plus 1 urinal per 
100 

 
Using The Purple Guide, we calculate that the ​minimum ​temporary provision - under normal                           

Page 9 
Page 81



circumstances - of 8 female toilets and 3 male toilet (or 11 unisex toilets), plus an additional 9 male                                     
urinals will be sufficient.  
 
Due to enforcing capacity restrictions, we feel it most viable and safest to use individual, unisex,                               
portable toilets rather than trailer toilets. Sanitation will be checked on a constant rotation                           
throughout the event by a dedicated cleaner supplied by a cleaning contractor, who is experienced in                               
the enhanced cleaning necessary. We will increase the number of portable toilets by a minimum of 3                                 
to ensure there is ample facility whilst some are closed for thorough cleaning (e.g. instead of 11 there                                   
will be 14). Toilets will also be cleaned and waste removed by the contractor each morning. 
 
Guidance as published by the EIF (Events Industry Forum) will be followed, as can be seen in                                 
Appendix A.i​. 
   
All toilets will have alcohol hand gel compliant with WHO guidance to combat COVID-19. 
 
Specific disabled toilet provision will be made available at the site entrance. 
 

Showers 
Are not required for this event. 

 

Camping 
At this stage, camping will not be permitted. 

 

Signage 
Signage will be deployed as necessary to direct the public to key elements of the site i.e entrance/exit,                                   
toilets, first aid, pick-up/drop-off (PUDO), toilets etc. Additional signage will be used to remind                           
customers and staff of regular hand sanitisation, not to leave their tables, no dancing, keeping 2m                               
distance, plus tabletop signage guidance on how to order food/drink. 
 
NHS COVID-19 app QR code will be at the site entrance, and all customers/contractors/staff must                             
show a member of staff that they have checked in before they are permitted admission. Those who                                 
do not have the app or have issues using it will be asked to fill in their details via a paper copy, using a                                               
writing implement that is sanitised by a member of staff between uses. 

 

Vehicle Movement 
There will be no vehicle access to the event site during the times that the public are present on the                                       
premises, with the exception of security vehicles. The vehicle access route will not be in areas                               
accessible by event-goers, however in the unlikely occasion they must be used in public areas they                               
will obey a 5mph speed limit, use the HazOff policy and be escorted by/use a banksman. 

 

Water 
A free drinking water supply will be provided and available to order via the app. Unfortunately                               
reusable water bottles will not be permitted for use at bars, to reduce the number of touch points                                   
between customer and staff. 
   

Page 10 
Page 82



General site safety policy 

The site will be managed appropriately to ensure the safety of all throughout the duration of the                                 
event period, including build and break periods. 
  
Working practices whilst the site is open to the public are thoroughly planned to ensure the license                                 
holder fulfils its duty of care to the public, performers, and staff on site throughout the event period. 
  
The event will be managed to ensure reasonable practicability is used to discharge the functions                             
required under the Occupiers Liability and Health & Safety at Work legislation. 
  
Staff will be briefed – either verbally or through printed documentation – of the health and safety,                                 
CV19 measures, evacuation and licensable activity management at the event. They will all be                           
expected to sign a document to show they have understood the site rules and emergency                             
procedures. 
  
Members of the public attending the event are entitled to feel safe, COVID-secure and to enjoy the                                 
ambience of the event; the site shall be arranged in such a manner as to afford the public such an                                       
expectation. 
  
Any matters not covered by this general policy can be discussed with the event management team                               
prior to the event, on site during the event and during the informed debrief process after the event.  
 
The Event Organiser's policy is to achieve high standards of Health & Safety in all areas of the event:                                     
build, the event itself, and breakdown. They recognise that a number of activities which are                             
undertaken, or are undertaken on their behalf, could potentially involve risk to the health, safety and                               
welfare of its employees, contractors, guests, members of the public and others. 
 
It is the organisers’ policy, so far as is reasonably practicable, to procure safe and healthy working                                 
conditions for employees, contractors and all other personnel working on behalf of the event, and to                               
procure that any activity undertaken at the event does not adversely affect the health and safety of its                                   
employees, contractors, guests, members of the public and others. 
 
All external contractors, suppliers and vendors are subject to vetting of all health and safety                             
documents, including RAMS, insurance, relevant certification and training as necessary prior to arrival                         
on site. 
 
The Event Management Team (EMT) will be responsible for monitoring the Health and Safety activity                             
of its staff, and ensure the maintenance and monitoring of safe & healthy systems of work which                                 
comply with or exceed current legislation and/or guidelines. External contractors, suppliers and                       
vendors are to operate under their own RAMS as approved by the EMT. 
 

Insurance details 

The event will hold adequate levels of insurance for an event of this size and nature. The event                                   
organiser is aware of the Premises Licence condition requiring evidence to be provided, and it is                               
viewable upon request. 

Page 11 
Page 83



   

Page 12 
Page 84



Management structure 

Key Personnel 

Contact Name  Role  Contact 
Number 

Contact Email 

Tom Wilkes  Site/Production 
Manager 

Event Manager & 
Operations 

tbc  Security Manager     

Technical 
Manager 

 

 

Roles & Responsibilities 
 
Tom Wilkes 
Overall accountability for the event, site management, upholding license and H&S 

● Responsible for overall management and operation of the event site, whether in-house or                         
externally promoted, including ongoing and dynamic COVID-19 risk assessments 

● Management of the event including planning, operating and implementing the event 
● Planning the layout of the site ensuring a safe environment 
● To liaise with East Herts Council, Emergency Services, ELT and Security Manager 
● Ensure all employees and contractors to carry out their responsibilities in a way that will                             

comply with all requests relevant authorities 
● Oversee all matters relating to the supply of alcohol 
● Ensure sufficient resources are available for the safe presentation of the event 
● To ensure that the objectives of the Premises Licence are upheld and adhered to 
● Ensure noise compliance with Premises Licence 
● To ensure all mandatory noise warning signage and hearing protection are displayed and                         

available in high noise areas 
● Conduct routine noise level checks at designated point in accordance with the Premises                         

Licence 
● Uphold License objectives relating to Noise and Nuisance 
● To present a professional image at all times 
● Be an active part of the ELT  
● To sign off the event once safe for public access 
● To carry out regular checks of stages and facilities to ensure any hazards are addressed 

 
Brittany Melly  
Mellyvents 
Event management, event operations, staffing & volunteer management, accreditation                 
management, catering management 

● Contracted for overall management and operation of the event site, whether in-house or                         
externally promoted, including ongoing and dynamic COVID-19 risk assessments 

Page 13 
Page 85



● Ensure briefing of staff regarding the event procedures and protocols 
● Coordinate management team and event staff including litter teams, bars, volunteers,                     

caterers, vendors and production 
● Ensuring any incident is followed through in the appropriate manner 
● Liaise with emergency services, and contractors to enable a clear line of communication                         

between all parties 
● Ensure smooth operations of the event, including car parking, ticketing and accreditation                       

gates 
● Work closely with the Event Safety Officer and Security Manager to ensure crowd and event                             

safety 
● To make the Site Manager and other teams aware of any issues that will affect the safety of                                   

any individuals 
● Be an active part of the ELT  
● Carry out continuous, dynamic risk assessments and work with the Site Manager to preempt                           

and prevent potential issues 
 
tbc 
TBC 
Site security management and crowd safety 

● Identification of all key staff locations etc and a staff positioning plan that will indicate the                               
numbers of security and staff, including where they will be, and when they will be there                               
(deployment and rotas) 

● To assist in the enactment of emergency procedures 
● Ensure the provision - and signing in - of competent and qualified SIA security and stewarding                               

personnel to carry out their duties (providing badge numbers where applicable) 
● To provide the appropriate number of fully trained and accredited staff 
● Ensure stewards/SIA are - where applicable - ​enforcing ​social distancing rules, including rule of                           

6, whether staff or customer 
● Ensure any incident is followed through in the appropriate manner 
● To help ensure that the objectives of the Premises Licence, are upheld and adhered to 
● To present a professional image at all times 
● Feedback all observations made by staff that may help discourage an unsafe environment and                           

any anti-social behaviour 
● To be in full knowledge of the Emergency Plan, and have an active part in the ELT 
● To assist and support the Site Manager, Event Manager, Event Safety Officer and Emergency                           

Services 
● To make the Site Manager and other teams aware of any issues that will affect the safety of                                   

any individuals 
 
Security Personnel 
TBC 

● Reporting to Security Manager 
● To ensure public safety at all times 
● To protect guests, staff and contractors present at the event 
● To protect all property, equipment, and vehicles on site 
● To uphold the conditions of entrance 
● To ensure adherence to social distancing and escalate non-compliance as necessary to                       

management 
● To assist with the prevention of crime and disorder 
● To assist with the prevention of public nuisance 

Page 14 
Page 86



● To assist with the protection of children from harm 
● To make the Security and Stewards Manager aware of any issues that will affect the safety of                                 

any individuals 
● To carry out searches of guests and property when deemed necessary 
● Observe any guests on site not wearing the correct wristband, and carry out appropriate                           

action 
● Be familiar with the location of their nearest exits, show stop procedure (Appendix P), muster                             

points and procedures to follow in the event of an evacuation of their area or the whole event                                   
site 

● To protect the surrounding area from any anti-social or illegal activity connected to the                           
occurrence of the event 

● Be readily identifiable in the event of an incident 
● Assist with gathering information / statements in the event of an accident or incident 
● To present a professional image at all times 
● Feedback all observations made by themselves or staff that may help discourage an unsafe                           

environment and any anti-social behaviour 
● To be in full knowledge of the Emergency Plans and Procedures 
● To assist and support the Site Manager, Event Manager, Event Safety Officer, Security Manager                           

and Emergency Services as required 
 

Waveco Productions 
Site and stage sound, lighting and video provision, power management and production staffing 

● Liaising with Site Manager regarding noise levels at the perimeter and reducing where                         
necessary 

● Senior responsible officer on site for the technical production and power distribution of the                           
event 

● Responsible for the safe operation of the AV and power provision 
● Ensure technical staff adhere to safe systems of work and wear any necessary PPE at all times 
● Liaison with the Event Manager, Event Safety Officer and Site Manager to advise on the safe                               

and effective operation of the stages, report any hazards or issues, including prior to the show                               
opening and after closing down each night 

● Responsible for ensuring monitoring and maintenance of the AV/power infrastructure and                     
rectifying issues 

 

   

Page 15 
Page 87



Event Control 

The event has a specific event control space which is to be located in the back of house areas. The                                       
Event Managers will be based here, and all volunteer/staff sign-in and accreditation, NHS app sign-in,                             
site inductions, and any other frontline duties as required will take place here. 
  
The Emergency Liaison Team (ELT) are: Site Manager, Event Manager, and Security Manager. Where                           
applicable the Medical Lead and / or Technical Manager may also be consulted, and any relevant                               
authorities. Dynamic ongoing risk assessment will be utilised to determine if contingency planning                         
needs to be applied or whether adequate plans are in place to resolve problems. 

Communication 

The event uses many different strategies for communicating with staff, contractors, suppliers and                         
members of the public, be they attending the event as customers or living in the local area. Mediums                                   
include social media, email, phone, face-to-face meetings, websites and text/WhatsApp groups. 
  
It is the strategy of the event to be as open and transparent as possible, engaging all through the                                     
various media to engage, debate, learn and be informed. 
  
The event does not support any use of the media by anyone connected to the event for the purposes                                     
of promoting any form of illegal act, and will delete any content deemed to be offensive, be it by                                     
gender, race, religion, colour or creed. 
 
The event management team, together with the security, bar, production and medical team, use a                             
hand held radio communication network, with mobile telephones used as a backup system to this                             
process. A number of channels will be used on the radios to ensure communication pathways are                               
clear and relevant to the channel users. 
 
E.g. 
Channel 1 - Event Management  
Channel 2 - Security and Medical 
Channel 3 - Bars 

Event Management Approach 

The event will be managed by a team of event professionals each responsible for their own area of                                   
management.  
 
Utilising the approach to incident management as proposed within the Civil Contingencies Act                         
(2004), there will be a tiered command structure utilising a Gold, Silver & Bronze structure: 
 
GOLD ​- overall control and has set the strategic direction for how the event will be delivered 
SILVER ​- strategic lead on-the-ground and acts as the principal liaison between the JCR and the                               
Event itself. The silver commander makes all final operational decisions and directly manages the                           
bronze team. 
BRONZE ​- directly controls an area’s resources/staff at the incident and will be found working at the                                 
scene. A commander or representative from each involved responder will be present and take                           
direction from their organisation, with the overall effort generally coordinated by the Police. 

Page 16 
Page 88



 

 
 
In extreme circumstances, the Assistant Event Manager and/or Security Manager will operate at Silver                           
Level in the absence of Tom Wilkes and . 

Incident Management 

A detailed ​Emergency & Incident Management Plan has been prepared and is detailed later within                             
this document. 

Transfer of Authority 

In the unlikely event of a major incident taking place during the Event it may be necessary for a                                     
transfer of authority to take place between the event and relevant authorities. 
 
This will be made in exceptional circumstances only. Once a major incident is terminated or                             
downgraded a second transfer of authority may take place effectively returning control of the Event                             
to the event management team. 
 
 

   

Page 17 
Page 89



Event Schedule 

We plan for 2 to 3 events per weekend, every fortnight throughout the Spring/Summer of 2021. These                                 
will be a range of outdoor cinema screenings / family based entertainment / live music / comedy. The                                   
events are of a shorter nature with minimal impact, and unlike our existing license, these events will                                 
be one-day, one-stage. At present we have no plans to introduce overnight camping. 
 
Start times may vary, however curfew will always be within the licensed times (or the legal curfew                                 
times as per current guidelines, whichever is earliest). 
 

Build and breakdown 

All work activities during the site build and clearance periods will be subject to approval of                               
contractors’ appropriate risk assessment and method statements. All activities will be overseen by an                           
appropriate qualified health and safety advisor and safe working practices will be maintained. All                           
build and break staff/contractors will be inducted onto the site, must read and agree to the site rules                                   
and wear appropriate PPE for their works at all times. 
 
All traffic entering site for the build and clearance periods will be overseen by site management staff.                                 
Large vehicles reversing on site will be provided with a banksman to prevent accidents. 
 
The event will use the farm's equipment during build and break. These vehicles are regularly                             
maintained as part of the everyday running of the farm, and are insured and operated by                               
experienced, trained licensed individuals; the use of such equipment on site is very much a secondary                               
function for the equipment. 
  
The site will be cleared to a standard of returning the field to normal use at the earliest opportunity. 
 
A nominated manager will be present before any works take place on each day of the build and                                   
break. 
 
The Build and Break Schedule will be available closer to the event period. 
 
We expect all contractors undertaking any construction/erection work to be arriving on site no earlier                             
than five days before the first event. The site will be open 08:00 to 20:00, and all personnel must agree                                       
to all Site Rules (viewable upon request). Once agreed by all relevant parties, no later than 1 week                                   
before the event, the build and break schedule must be adhered to.  
 

Temporary Structures 

The UK government has received legal advice that all the activities involved in placing structures on                               
event sites are defined as ‘construction’ activities (due to an EU Directive) and therefore fall under                               
construction industry regulations. The same position has also been taken regarding ‘domestic’                       
construction activities which previously were excluded. As a result of this the Construction (Design &                             
Management) Regulations have been updated and now apply to all event sites. 
  
Under the updated regulations, all events with structures will have a Client. The Client appoints both                               
a Principal Designer (PD) - whose primary role it is to ensure that health and safety is planned into a                                       

Page 18 
Page 90



project from the design stage through to the start on site - and a Principal Contractor (PC) to take                                     
charge of and manage health and safety on site. 
  
Temporary structures for the license holder 2021 include one or more stretch tents and marquees. All                               
temporary structures will be built compliant with this guidance, and advice/sign-off sought from the                           
structure contractors e.g. tent/marquee provider Alternative Stretch Tents.  

Accreditation 

Every person on site, whether staff or attendee, will be required to wear some form of accreditation.                                 
This may be one or more of a: particular uniform, wristband or lanyard.  
 
All attendees will be issued with wristbands at the point of entry in exchange for a valid ticket.  
 
Different colours/styles will be utilised over the event days for any person on site, and will reflect the                                   
area and/or table number of the guest. A pass list detailing the passes and access permissions will be                                   
distributed to the event management, security and bar team prior to public access. This will not be                                 
distributed anywhere online or viewable to the public in any way prior to the event to prevent                                 
unauthorised fabrication. 

Arrival & Ingress 

Queue Management 

The area immediately outside the Event entrance will be set-up with queuing barriers and signage                             

indicating where and how to queue in a socially distanced way. 

 

NB: The queuing layout will be designed to facilitate socially distanced queuing for each ticket Group                               

with space provided for up to 6 people. Please refer to the Site Map appendix S. 

 

Open Procedure 

Once the Event Manager deems the site safe and ready to open – and having checked with all other                                     

onsite management, the Event Manager will inform the Security Manager that the site is safe and                               

ready to open. If possible the site will open slightly early so as to minimise excessive queuing outside                                   

the event space 

 

Scheduled Arrivals 

To help reduce mass arrivals of guests, tickets will be sold on a table basis within 10-minute arrival                                   

time slots. For example, for an event with doors opening at midday: 

12.00pm - 20 x table tickets sold (up to 120 guests) 

12.10pm - 20 x table tickets sold (up to 120 guests) 

 

If a guest arrives significantly early for their time slot, and the queuing space is busy, they will be                                     

asked to wait in their car til their time slot nears. If the queuing area has capacity, they may be                                       

allowed earlier entry which will help with potential late arrivals.  

 

Page 19 
Page 91



Entry 

On arrival guests will be required to wear face coverings and queue in designated areas. Each                               

member of the group will undergo a temperature check, with only guests registering a temperature                             

of 37.8deg Celsius or below admitted. A failed test will temporarily prevent that entire group from                               

being admitted until a second test can be taken 10 minutes later. 

 

If a guest fails the second temperature check then the entire group will be prevented from entering                                 

the event. 

 

Table Hosts & seating process 

Once all members of a group have passed the temperature test, the group will be escorted to a                                   

vacant table by an available member of waiting staff. 

Once seated they will be given numbered wristbands corresponding to their table number, and the                             

member of staff will watch the table put on the wristbands (no touching of guests). The staff member                                   

will then briefly explain: 

 

● COVID-secure measures, social distancing rules, face covering rules and hand sanitising                     

locations 

● App-ordering process 

● When and where guests should wear face coverings (when leaving table to queue for/use                           

toilets or exit venue) 

 

App and Table Ordering Service 

Once seated guests are not permitted to leave their designated area unless accessing the toilet                             

facilities. To ensure minimal movement and maintain the separation of guest groups, all food & 

beverages can be ordered via an online app which will be delivered by a member of the waiting staff.                                     

The process for this will be sent out via pre-event marketing to guests, and will be explained upon                                   

arrival and have instructions on tables. This significantly reduces the need to interact with staff or                               

leave their seat. 

 

Food and drinks will be delivered by staff, with a strict ‘no touching’ policy between staff and                                 

customer vectors. Food / drinks will be loaded onto trays by vendors, which will then be ferried to the                                     

relevant table: customers will then remove their items from the tray. 

 

Activities & Entertainment 

Entertainment will vary across the programme, and may include live music, family entertainment,                         
theatrical performances, dance performances and/or film screenings. 
 

Social Distance Stewarding 

In order to ensure compliance with UK guidelines on social distancing, rule of 6 and wearing of face                                   

coverings, a dedicated team of distancing stewards will be deployed with a sole job description of                               

ensuring that social distancing and other CV-19 measures are adhered to. 

Page 20 
Page 92



 

Security 

The site is secured with appropriate fencing and security personnel are managed by SRM Security*, a                               

specialist event security provider who will provide SIA staff and Fire Safety / Emergency stewarding                             

services at the Event. 

*tbc - SRM are a preferred contractor 

 

Hand Sanitiser Stations 

Hand sanitiser stations will be provided across the Event footprint including in the following locations: 

1. Event entrance(s) and exit(s) to the seating area 

2. Service areas 

3. Backstage areas 

4. Staff areas 

 

Sanitation & Cleansing 

A team of Event specific cleansing staff will be in-place at the Event at all times that the guests are                                       

on-site, with specific roles as below: 

1. Pre- and post- event cleaning, plus event table clearing, team 

2. Toilet attendant 

 

The Following CV-19 cleansing and sanitisation measures will be in place: 

● All tables and seating areas sanitised daily after each group usage 

● Other touch-points sanitised regularly throughout the Event 

● Toilets monitored and cleaned throughout the Event, with a deep clean between Sessions 

● Toilets receive a full service and deep clean every morning 

Contractors 

A final list for the contractors at the license holder 2021 will be made available no later than 3 weeks                                       
prior to the event date. Relevant RAMS, insurance, certification etc. will be obtained, checked and                             
retained by the event management team before any works are undertaken on site. 
 

Contractor  Contact  Providing 

WaveCo Productions  All stage lighting, sound, LED/video, production 
staffing, and power management 

SRM Security  SIA security and stewards 

CATERERS & TRADERS tbc  tbc  tbc 

tbc  various  Toilet hire, cleaning and waste management 

Alternative Stretch Tents  Tom Wilkes  Stretch tent and marquees 

Page 21 
Page 93



Catering & Non-Food Traders 

Adequate catering provision will be provided to supply a variety of options, both hot and cold, to our                                   
patrons for meals. Each subcontracted catering outlet will be expected to supply adequate evidence                           
of their food hygiene standards, staff training, fire safety, insurance, and risk management in advance                             
of arrival at site - and preferably an NCASS membership. They are expected to follow the principles of                                   
‘Safer Food, Better Business’ as a minimum standard and maintain appropriate storage and                         
temperature control records whilst on site. They are also expected to follow all site rules regarding                               
safety and welfare, and agree in advance to do so. 
  
A list of food vendors and their documentation may be supplied to the Local Authority upon request                                 
by an appropriately authorised officer. 
 
Non-food traders will also be invited to trade (i.e. glitter stalls, event apparel). This will be subject to                                   
acceptable RAMS and insurance. 
 

Local Community Impact 

The history of the event site is steeped in the local community: many family members and                               
neighbours regularly attend - or even volunteer at - the charity fundraising festival Wilkestock, and                             
are notified in advance of any events taking place on site. 
 

Public Information 

The event uses social media and the event website to broadcast messages, and communicates                           
directly with attendees using email addresses provided at the point of ticket purchase. Local                           
residents are made aware of the event. Emails are sent directly to ticket holders with important event                                 
information (such as access, entry restrictions etc.), which are echoed on social media. 
 
Information made available either by social media, email or website includes but is not limited to: 
 

● Opening and closing times 
● Entry, re-entry and last entry conditions 
● App-ordering process 
● CV-19 measures, including distancing, rule of 6, sanitisation and face covering rules 
● NHS COVID-19 mandatory usage (paper if not possible) 
● Prohibited items 
● Challenge 25 and ID information 
● Age restrictions 
● Car parking information 
● Traffic / directional information 
● Weather information 
● Performance times 
● Payment methods on the app 
● Reference to all event FAQs on the website 

   

Page 22 
Page 94



Appendices 
 

A. COVID (Coronavirus / CV-19) Policy and Risk Assessment 
 

COVID-19 is a public health emergency. We will evaluate the risks to their workers and attendees, and                                 
protect workers and others from risk to their health and safety. We recognise we will not be able to                                     
completely eliminate the risk of COVID-19, but will take all reasonable precautions to minimise risk as                               
far as practicably possible. 
 
Please refer to the separate document for COVID-19 Risk Assessment. 
 
Guidance is monitored and updated, as recommended by: 
EIF ​https://www.eventindustrynews.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/EIfDCMS-COVID-19-Working-Safely-9-July-2020.pdf 

LGA ​https://www.local.gov.uk/covid-19-outdoor-events-guidance  
and 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/coronavirus-information-councils/covid-19-service-information/covid-19-licensing 
and  
https://www.local.gov.uk/approaches-managing-licensing-and-related-issues-during-covid-19-pandemic 
Gov.uk​ ​https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/restaurants-offering-takeaway-or-delivery 

 

Admission, and Test and Trace 
All staff, contractors, customers and management will be subject to a temperature check upon                           
arrival. As per the NHS website, a temperature of 37.8deg Celsius or higher constitutes a high                               
temperature, and the following will be applied: 
 

1. one re-test permitted after a 'cool-down' period of 10 minutes [cool-down will take place                           
off-site and workers will be asked to go back to their vehicle and return after 10 minutes] 

2. if upon re-test a temperature is still 37.8deg or above the person and anyone who travelled to                                 
site with them / the entire table party will not be permitted access to the site 

 
In the event a customer is denied entry on this basis, we will draw up a policy with the promoter to                                         
consider refunds/transfers. 
 
We will be participating in the NHS COVID-19 service for checking in. For those unable to access the                                   
app, we will keep a temporary record of our attendees for 21 days via a paper form. This could help                                       
contain clusters or outbreaks. 
 

Staff & Contractors 
Due to the nature of the event, we will consider the clinical vulnerability of staff during the role                                   
allocation process. We endeavour to minimise the number of staff for each role, to limit the likelihood                                 
of cross-contamination (e.g. one sound engineer using the mixing desk). All staff will be provided with                               
guidance on the site’s COVID-19 policy, including contractors. 
 
Staff will be given set areas in which to work (i.e. a designated space on a bar, certain tables for                                       
waiting services, specific areas to patrol) in order to try and maintain ​2m separation at all times, with a                                     
minimum of 1m where 2m is not possible. Where possible, the same staff ‘teams’ will be scheduled to                                   
work so as to minimise excess contact. All staff and contractors must be temperature checked on                               
arrival and use the NHS COVID-19 app daily. 
 

Page 23 
Page 95

https://www.eventindustrynews.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/EIfDCMS-COVID-19-Working-Safely-9-July-2020.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/covid-19-outdoor-events-guidance
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/coronavirus-information-councils/covid-19-service-information/covid-19-licensing
https://www.local.gov.uk/approaches-managing-licensing-and-related-issues-during-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19/restaurants-offering-takeaway-or-delivery


Cleaning 
A record of cleaning inspections of work areas and equipment between use, using normal cleaning                             
products will be in place. Where there are areas that are likely to be touching points for the public                                     
and workers, such as door handles, waste bin lids, tables and chairs etc. they will need to be regularly                                     
disinfected. Particular attention will be paid to areas where there is high traffic, such as toilets and                                 
smoking areas. 
 
When cleaning after a known or suspected case of COVID-19 (for example in designated                           
isolation/quarantine areas), we will refer to specific guidance ​outlined on the gov.uk website here​: 
[​https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontaminatio

n-in-non-healthcare-settings​] 
 

Distancing and Traffic-Flow 
Utilising time slot allocated entry, we will sell parking slots for no more than 20 cars every 10 minutes                                     
(those that arrive early will be asked to wait in their cars til their time slot). This will help us to reduce                                           
the flow of customers from the car park to the queuing area, where we have ample space to socially                                     
distance queues of more than 1500 guests utilising a series of barrier systems. 
 
In the event space, walkways are 2m between the seated sides of the benches, and 2m between                                 
tables (no end seats). One-way systems will be implemented to reduce cross-traffic. This will be                             
utilised by both customers and staff. Stewards will be recruited purely to encourage and promote                             
social distancing across the entire event.  

 
We will reduce the need for customers to move by providing table service. Customers will only need                                 
to get up from their tables to visit the toilet or to exit. There will be no dancefloor, and customers                                       
must sit at their pre-allocated table only. This will be monitored by using identifiable                           
numbered/coloured wristbands, to ensure guests are only in the area designated.  
 

Signage 
Signage on site will be used to remind workers and customers of the need to socially distance and to                                     
wash hands regularly. This will also be present in public areas to help enforce a one-way system of                                   
movement. This may include floor markings. 
 

Structure 
There will be no covered spaces, other than the stage for performer(s). 
 

Suspected Cases 
A pre-designated quarantine area will be set-up to isolate staff/public who become ill during the                             
event. Guidance will be sought from the on-site medical professionals should this be the case. 
 

Toilets 
● Using signs and posters to build awareness of good handwashing techniques, the need to                           

increase handwashing frequency and to avoid touching your face, and to cough or sneeze into                             
a tissue which is binned safely, or into your arm if a tissue is not available. 

● Consider the use of social distancing marking in areas where queues normally form, and the                             
adoption of a limited entry approach, with one in, one out (whilst avoiding the creation of                               
additional bottlenecks). 

Page 24 
Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings


● To enable good hand hygiene, consider making hand sanitiser available on entry to toilets                           
where safe and practical, and ensure suitable handwashing facilities including running water,                       
liquid soap and suitable options for drying (either paper towels or hand dryers) are available. 

● Setting clear use and cleaning guidance for toilets, with increased frequency of cleaning in                           
line with usage. 

● It is recommended that alcohol-based cleaning products are used when toilets are in use as                             
these are effective for COVID-19 within 1 minute. Normal cleaning agents, which take longer to                             
deal with COVID-19 can be used for the final clean. 

● Particular attention should be given to cleaning frequently hand-touched surfaces and                     
consider use of disposable cloths or paper roll to clean all hard surfaces. 

● Keep the facilities well ventilated, for example by fixing doors open where appropriate.  
● Special care should be taken for cleaning of portable toilets and larger toilet blocks. 
● Putting up a visible cleaning schedule can keep it up to date and visible. 

B. Traffic management plan 

We do not envision having to implement a TTRO as many events with similar and higher capacity                                 
have worked incredibly well at the same site. We will, however, be providing plenty of information                               
prior to the event on how to get to/from the site, PUDO instructions and car parking information. 
 
Customers will be informed prior to the event on the preferred route into site, so as to reduce                                   
two-way traffic on the single-track roads as much as possible. All traffic leaving the event after the                                 
event will be directed to use one point of exit only. 
 
Emergency access routes will be distributed to all emergency services and SAG members on an                             
event-by-event basis. 

   

Page 25 
Page 97



C. Entry policy and procedure 

 
LAST ENTRY STRICTLY THREE* HOURS BEFORE FINISH (*event dependant) 
 
Tickets are sold by table groups online. Numbers sold assessed daily and sales can be stopped at any                                   
time. Small proportion of tickets sold on the event days [if available]. 
 
All patrons will be subject to a temperature check prior to admission. A ‘failed’ temperature check                               
means the entire table party will not be permitted entry. For more on this please refer to ​Appendix A. 
 
Relevant accreditation will be issued when seated. 
 
All entrants will be searched prior to entering/re-entering the site as a condition of entry. Searches will                                 
be minimised to all bags searches and 1 in 10 full body searches at random. 
 

● Challenge 25 policy operating at the bar, valid photo ID required for sale of alcohol/cigarettes 
 
Prohibited items: 

● No alcohol 
● No firearms 
● No fireworks/explosives 
● No knives/blades over 3 inches 
● No items that may be considered a weapon 
● No aerosols 
● No perfume/aftershave (unless tested) 
● No drugs/legal highs including NOS 
● No corrosive materials 
● No smoke canisters 
● No laser pens 
● No glass 
● No fires or camping stoves/cookery anywhere on site 
● No generators of any kind 
● No entry permitted to any one, at any time, in any area without appropriate accreditation 
● No unauthorised or professional photography, film or video equipment & selfie sticks 
● No go-pros 
● No Chinese lanterns 
● No drones 
● No animals 
● No megaphones/klaxons/air horns 
● No high visibility bibs and jackets  
● No poles, banners and flags 

 

   

Page 26 
Page 98



D. Security assessment, operations and deployment plan 

There is no known threat identified to the event space. 
 

Site Considerations 
● Vehicle to ram crowds - the main event areas are contained within hedges and Heras fencing                               

perimeters which would act as a deterrent/blockade. 
● Bomb – the Events Management and Security team will be briefed on what to look out for and                                   

remain vigilant always. 
● Violence – the Events Management team will all be briefed on what action to take should an                                 

incident occur. Several of the event team are first aid trained. 
● Knives – No problem has been encountered with knives at previous events, however caterers                           

and contractors will be reminded of knife safety and the events team/security will remain                           
vigilant 
 

Communication 
The team will all: 

•        Be briefed on radio protocol 
•        Have read the Emergency Procedure 
•        Receive information with important information and mobile numbers 
•        Wear hi-vis vests 
•        Communicate through radios with earpieces on the day, mobiles for back up 

 

Staffing 
Working with a contracted security company, we will ensure an adequate number of SIA licensed                             
security and stewards are present on site at all times. The numbers will vary based on full capacity,                                   
however key access points, evacuation points, surveillance points and perimeter weak spots will be                           
taken into consideration. A full security deployment plan and rota will be made available once                             
consultations have taken place. 
  

Surrounding Area   
Security patrols will take place around the site perimeter. 

 
CCTV  
12 CCTV cameras are in operation/manned [when possible] during the event along with radio contact                             
with the security team. 

   

Page 27 
Page 99



E. Weapons policy and Drugs policy including psychoactive substances 

Weapons of any nature are not permitted on site. This includes blades 3” or above, firearms,                               
fireworks/explosives, corrosive materials, aerosols or unsealed/untested bottles of liquid/perfume. 
 
The venue has a strictly no drugs policy. Amnesty bins will be located at the main entrance and                                   
campsite entrance, to allow for honest disposal of drugs with no consequences. Confiscated items at                             
the site entrance and onsite if seen/found, any drugs found will be placed in a ‘safe box’ with security                                     
and handed to the police on the night if necessary. 
 
Where any person is suspected of dealing drugs, following a search or otherwise, that person will be                                 
ejected or refused entry and the person concerned will be detained and the police will be contacted                                 
prior to the ejection. All suspected drugs will be seized and stored safely and securely in sealed                                 
evidence bags. A register of all seized drugs will be kept and updated at the time the item is placed                                       
into storage. All seizures will be fully documented and all details of the incident, including offender                               
details, will be supplied to the police at the conclusion of the event. 
 
All staff are made aware of the weapons, drink and drug policies in place and can make the main                                     
organisers aware of any infringements of these policies. 
 

   

Page 28 
Page 100



F. Eviction policy and procedure 

Unacceptable behaviour that can lead to eviction includes, but is not limited to: 
● Illegal activity 
● Offensive behaviour 
● Throwing of objects in the direction of people 
● Encouraging others to behave badly by incitement 
● Preventing security or emergency services reacting to a situation 
● Possession of prohibited items on site 
● Underage patrons on site  

 
Evictions will be facilitated by the security provider, and they will make the Event Operations Manager                               
and Site Manager aware. They will independently assess each eviction based on the evidence and                             
report provided by the escorting security. The event-goer will have their details and a photo/ID details                               
taken. The event-goer will be given a chance to make a statement, before any decision is made. With                                   
the provided evidence and report, management will assess and decide to issue either a warning and                               
let the individual back into the event, or they will take the wristband off and security personnel will                                   
escort them from the site. It will be the Site Manager’s decision whether to escalate the incident to                                   
999.  
 
In the event an underage patron is to be evicted, they will be detained until the Event Manager and                                     
Security Manager can decide the best course of action. They may be asked to wait in the welfare area                                     
until a decision is made on how to deal with the situation. It is likely their parents/guardian(s) will be                                     
called and asked that they be collected. If they are with a group of friends, they may be asked to leave                                         
as a group if it is deemed safe to do so (i.e. they have a designated driver). 
 
No individual will be ejected where there is a clear duty of care to the individual. That duty is extended                                       
to the young, old and vulnerable. If there is cause for doubt, the individual will be held at the entrance                                       
until transport arrangements can be made to transport the individual in a safe and appropriate                             
manner. 
 
If evicted, individuals will not be permitted back to collect belongings. Instead, they will be offered a                                 
phone call to a friend or family member on site who will have to collect it on their behalf. Enquiries                                       
will be made of each individual ejected from the venue and a record kept of their details and ticket                                     
information. The event-goer will be escorted off the site via the main entrance, where they will have to                                   
make their own way home (either by using the taxi ranks, shuttle bus or walking to the train station).                                     
They will not be allowed back into the event at all. Event staff may assist in the calling of a taxi if it is                                               
safe to do so. 
 
We will record behaviour for evidential purposes using CCTV cameras around the site and                           
security-worn recording devices. 

   

Page 29 
Page 101



G. Emergency protocols and Crowd management plan 

Each key member of the ELT and management personnel will be equipped with: 
  

● A handheld radio base unit 
● A mobile phone 

○ A dedicated phone number for the relevant main site contact - either Tom Wilkes or                             
Brittany Melly - will be circulated to emergency services, security, staff and contractors                         
prior to the event. For any off site issues, this number will be used (i.e. noise problems or                                   
any other incidents that may occur due to the event) 

● Knowledge of the Event Safety Documents 
 
The ELT envisages that a member of the Event Management team and the Security/Stewards team                             
will be most likely to be first on scene of any incident. Any incident will be treated individually based                                     
on its requirements. 
  
All Event personnel will follow these guidelines in the event of an incident: 
 

● Make communication with the nearest available Radio Operator 
● When approaching any incident assess the scenario and communicate it to the Site and/or                           

Event Operations Manager - depending on the nature of the incident - and await instructions 
● Be aware of hidden dangers when approaching any incident 
● Always put the safety of the guests and staff above all other things 

 
Once a clear understanding of the incident has been established by the Site and/or Event Operations                               
Manager they will assess the incident and decide on the level of response needed. Where possible,                               
Site and/or Event Manager will use the resources at hand to handle the incident. The decision to                                 
request assistance from the emergency services will be made by the Site Manager only. 
 

Crowd Management Plan 
Crowd control is a public security practice where large crowds are managed to prevent the outbreak                               
of crowd crushes, affray, fights involving drunk and disorderly people or riots. 
  
All SIA staff and stewards are appropriately trained, experienced and licensed (where necessary) to                           
control, manage and negate crowding issues. All customers will be clicked in on entry to maintain a                                 
good understanding of the numbers of people on site. They will also click numbers entering/leaving                             
each venue to ensure overcrowding does not occur. 
  
Staff will search patrons arriving at the venue, manage the access arrangements at the front gate and                                 
be in position throughout the time that the venue remains open to the public. These gate staff will be                                     
responsible for maintaining the entry provisions for the event, particularly the times when no further                             
entry is permitted. 
  
Staff will then patrol the venue to deter any anti-social behaviour and monitor and control those                               
persons present. 
  
To facilitate the layout, safety and security of the campsite area, security and stewarding staff will                               
maintain a presence at the entrance to the camping area and in the observation towers. 
 

Page 30 
Page 102



Major Incident Plan 
A major incident is defined by the Cabinet Office as “​An event or situation, with a range of serious                                     
consequences, which requires special arrangements to be implemented by one or more emergency                         
responder agencies​”. 
 
The following notes were issued with the definition by the Cabinet Office: 

● ‘Emergency responder agencies’ describes all Category one and two responders as defined in                         
the ​Civil Contingencies Act (2004)​ and associated guidance; 

● A major incident is beyond the scope of business-as-usual operations, and is likely to involve                             
serious harm, damage, disruption or risk to human life or welfare, essential services, the                           
environment or national security; 

● A major incident may involve a single-agency response, although it is more likely to require a                               
multi-agency response, which may be in the form of multi-agency support to a lead                           
responder; 

● The severity of consequences associated with a major incident are likely to constrain or                           
complicate the ability of responders to resource and manage the incident, although a major                           
incident is unlikely to affect all responders equally; and 

● The decision to declare a major incident will always be a judgment made in a specific local and                                   
operational context, and there are no precise and universal thresholds or triggers. Where LRFs                           
and responders have explored these criteria in the local context and ahead of time, decision                             
makers will be better informed and more confident in making that judgment. 

  
In the event of an incident that prevents a ‘business-as-usual’ approach, the ELT will meet and calls                                 
will be made from the event venue to the emergency services via the 999 emergency telephone                               
number. A senior member of the event management team - usually the Site Manager - will, having                                 
assessed the extent and duration of such an event, telephone the emergency services on the 999                               
telephone number and brief the operator on the nature and severity of the situation. 
 
It is likely that an audience-led egress will also occur; as such security will be deployed to the car park                                       
to prevent crowds gathering in areas where vehicles are departing. Vehicles will be directed to leave                               
via the one-way system in place, which will not affect the emergency blue route ingress. Cars will be                                   
prevented from leaving the car park once emergency services are to leave the site, so they do not                                   
block the emergency egress route on the one-way system to the A602.  
  
A senior representative of the event will meet the emergency services at the main entrance to the site                                   
and provide a ‘hot’ briefing. 
  
Active control of the site will pass to the first senior officer of the emergency responders that arrives at                                     
site i.e. watch commander/station officer from the Fire & Rescue Service, Senior Ambulance Officer                           
from the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAS) or a ranking officer of the                               
Hertfordshire Constabulary. 
 

   

Page 31 
Page 103



Evacuation Procedure 
 
If it has been determined by the ELT that a localised area, venue, or site-wide evacuation is required,                                   
the following steps shall be taken: 
 
Localised Area Evacuation 

1. Radio announcement alerting site personnel that an incident has occurred, to standby, to be                           
prepared to implement the emergency operations plans, and maintain radio silence until                       
further instruction 

2. Event Manager or Site Manager will contact the emergency services and remain in contact,                           
giving concise and up to date information 

3. The Security Manager and/or Site Manager and/or Event Manager will be deployed to the site                             
of incident to investigate and report back details to event control 

4. The Security Manager or Site Manager will deploy personnel to strategic locations to ensure                           
the guests and staff are protected from the incident 

5. The Security and Stewards team will use the megaphones or PA to direct the guests,                             
contractors, and staff to the nearest exit 

6. The Security and Stewards will be deployed to all useable and available exits 
7. The Site Manager will instruct the use of the PA systems within the area if applicable to relay                                   

information to the public 
8. Security Manager will stop any more guests into the incident site 
9. If the emergency services deem it necessary to attend, then Site Manager will liaise with them                               

and advise which route to the site to be used: green or blue. All resources at hand will be                                     
offered to the Emergency Services, and they will be able to control the site as they see fit 

10. Stewards/Security will be positioned to cordon the area preventing any members of the public                           
access to the incident site 

11. Re-admittance to an evacuated area will only be allowed when all the Event Control personnel                             
are happy that the area is safe. If the evacuation was of a serious nature and involved one or                                     
more of the Emergency Services, then permission must be granted prior to re-admission 

 
Venue/Site-Wide Evacuation 

1. Radio announcement alerting site personnel that an incident has occurred, to standby, to be                           
prepared to implement the emergency operations plans, and maintain radio silence until                       
further instruction 

2. Event Manager or Land Owner will contact the emergency services and remain in contact,                           
giving concise and up to date information 

3. The Security Manager or Site Manager or Event Manager will be deployed to the site of                               
incident to investigate and report back details to event control 

4. The Security Manager or Site Manager will deploy personnel to strategic locations to ensure                           
the guests and staff are protected from the incident 

5. The Security and Stewards team will use the megaphones or PA to direct the guests,                             
contractors, and staff to the nearest exit 

6. The Security and Stewards will be deployed to all useable and available exits, and direct people                               
to the relevant muster point (Car Park A or Car Park C) 

7. The Site Manager will instruct the use of the PA systems within the area if applicable to relay                                   
information to the public 

8. Security Manager will stop any more guests into the incident site 

Page 32 
Page 104



9. If the emergency services deem it necessary to attend, then Site Manager will liaise with them                               
and advise which route to the site to be used. All resources at hand will be offered to the                                     
Emergency Services, and they will be able to control the site as they see fit 

10. Stewards/Security will be positioned to cordon the area preventing any members of the public                           
access to the incident site 

11. Re-admittance to an evacuated area will only be allowed when all the Event Control personnel                             
are happy that the area is safe. If the evacuation was of a serious nature and involved one or                                     
more of the Emergency Services, then permission must be granted prior to re-admission 

  
The Event Manager or Site Manager will advise on which muster point and holding is to be used.                                   
Security and staff are all briefed prior to the event on location of all emergency exits. 
  
Causes of the evacuation of the site may be due severe weather, fire, unsafe structures,                             
bomb/terrorist threats or any other reason deemed necessary by the Site or Event Manager. 
 

Loss of Lighting Procedure 
 

● Event Manager is contacted 
● Security/Main Stage/Main Top Bar/High Towers will all have sufficient torches available 
● Staff and Personnel will be instructed where light is needed until power is restored 
● Emergency Exit signs are illuminated: emergency lighting within tented structures will activate 
● Entrances and exits are manned not to allow an influx of people 

 
Power supplied by two or more generators, mains power and generator-fuelled lighting towers:                         
therefore interrupted lighting is very unlikely. 

 
Terrorism 
 
For some crowded places simple good practice, coupled with staff vigilance and well exercised                           
contingency arrangements may be all that is needed. 
  
Our priorities for protection should fall under the following categories: 

● people (e.g. staff, visitors, customers, contractors, general public) 
● physical assets (e.g. buildings, contents, equipment, plans and sensitive materials) 
● information (e.g. electronic and paper data) 
● processes and policies (e.g. supply chains, critical procedures) – the actual operational process                         

and essential services required to support it. 
  
 For each, we need to consider: 

● what is the vulnerability? 
● why is it vulnerable? 
● what are they vulnerable to? 

  
Risks will be factored into the planning of the perimeter security, access control, contingency plans                             
etc. so that the terrorist dimension is considered. 
  
Staff understand their personal responsibilities and accept the need for security measures and that                           
security is seen as part of everyone's responsibility, not merely something for security experts or                             
professionals. We encourage people to raise concerns and report observations. 

Page 33 
Page 105



 
Bomb Threat or Suspicious Package 
In the event of a suspicious package being found or a bomb threat being received, the following                                 
procedure will be initiated: 

1. A record of the message/finding will be made 
2. Location of the package/bomb determined and as much information gathered as possible 
3. Inform the police via the most expedient method 
4. All actions/decisions made logged 
5. All key personnel alerted 
6. Cordon off the affected area and move people away 
7. Convene ELT 
8. Consider raising the alert level 
9. Prepare for full evacuation as per police guidance 
10. If necessary, evacuate parts of/the full site 

 
Guidance for the Public 
When dealing with suspicious items: 

● Do not touch 
● Try and identify an owner in the immediate area 
● If you still think it’s suspicious, don’t feel embarrassed or think somebody else will report it 
● Report it to a member of staff or security 
● Move away to a safe distance - even for a small item such as a briefcase move at least 100m                                       

away from the item starting from the centre and moving out. 
 
Public Disorder 
If there is: 

● Any missile(s) thrown 
● Violence towards others, staff/management or authorities 
● A fight between two or more people where the public are present and the risk of harm is high 

 
…then the Event Management team will trigger the following procedure: 
 

1. Low level fights dealt with SIA licensed security. Perpetrators removed from site/placed in                         
holding pen and/or handed over to the police 

2. Identify the location of the incident and confirm the scale of incident (nature of problem,                             
number of people involved, any weapons seen/used) 

3. Notify security/police and attend to the incident immediately where risk to public is high 
4. Inform first aiders, other Event Managers and Security Manager 
5. Prepare for partial evacuation if necessary 
6. Where the incident cannot be contained/controlled in a timely manner: execute the Show                         

Stop Procedure (appendix P) 
 

Hazardous Substances (deliberate release) 
 

A deliberate event is an act, or threat, involving the intentional release of hazardous substances to                               
cause harm. Substances include chemicals, biological agents, and radiological materials. An event of                         
this nature will progress slowly and may not be preceded with a warning. Staff will be vigilant in                                   
identifying casualties with similar symptoms relating to breathing, or eye/nose complaints. This                       
incident WILL result in an eventual Show Stop. 

Page 34 
Page 106



  
If the incident is underway, emergency services will be immediately called (police, fire and                           
ambulance), ensuring the following details are given: 

● Type of incident and chemical type/name (if known) 
● Exact location of threat or incident 
● Number of known casualties 
● Access and RVP points 
● Wind direction (if known) 
● Actions already taken 

 
1. Inform Event Manager, Site Manager, Security Manager (who will alert SIA and stewards),                         

Safety Officer and first aiders 
2. Convene ELT in a safe location – immediately determine requirement for                     

containment/evacuation. Do not allow any public in to the containment zone 
3. Establish location for decontamination equipment upon its arrival 
4. Inform the Event Press Officer 
5. Consider continuing the event to reduce mass panic 

   

Page 35 
Page 107



H. Extreme weather procedure and action plan 

The event is outdoors, but takes place undercover. Our customers are asked to be prepared for                               
inclement weather via Facebook and Twitter, meaning a real-time update can be sent to them. We                               
are able to advise them to dress appropriately for conditions, such as wet or muddy weather (wear                                 
waterproofs, wellington boots etc). 
  
Ground conditions for temporary demountable structures (TDS): Though the anchorage for the                       
marquee/tent structures used for the event should be sufficient to hold during wet weathers, advice                             
from the marquee/tent company should be sought. The TDS will be placed in areas least affected by                                 
standing water. 
 
Extreme Rain – Persistent heavy rain during the weeks leading up to the event date or during the                                   
event itself can lead to localised flooding and unstable ground conditions in some areas. This can                               
have an adverse effect on the event, and may result in alterations to the production schedule or - in                                     
very extreme cases - lead to event cancellation. All TDS will be checked on a regular basis during                                   
extreme rain to ensure that they remain stable. 
  
Vehicle movement – some of the grassy areas may become water soaked and unusable, especially if                               
several vehicles have to pass over the same area, creating a mud hole. Trackway will be laid down to                                     
allow unobstructed vehicle movement. Woodchip or other materials will be available to fill “mud                           
holes” or particularly boggy areas that develop. 
  
Temporary Installations - The site electrician will ensure that all power connections are properly                           
earthed and meet BS7909 meaning that connections and distribution will not be affected by the wet                               
conditions. 
  
Extreme Heat​ – we do not envisage this being an issue at the time of year. 
  
Extreme Wind – As well as watching reliable weather forecast websites (Met Office), Tom Wilkes (the                               
owner of Alternative Stretch Tents, the TDS provider) will also be on sote to liaise and advise. 
 
Heras Fence - The majority of the heras fence used on site is not scrimmed. Any heras fencing that is                                       
scrimmed (either Tilde Net or mesh banner) is regularly checked, and scrim removed if needed. The                               
max operating speeds for un-scrimmed heras fence is in excess of 25 m/s. The max operating wind                                 
speed for scrimmed heras is 10 m/s. As such, the Action Levels for heras fence on site are as follows: 
Action Level 1 – 6 m/s – Standby – monitor condition of scrimmed fencing 
Action Level 2 – 8 m/s – Remove lower cable ties from scrim and role the material to the top of the                                           
panel. The panel is now effectively un-scrimmed 
Evacuation of area – 25 m/s 
  
Toilets ​- Toilets in use at the event are of the single, portable type + trailer unit and are capable of                                         
withstanding a wind speed of 16 m/s. As such the action speeds for these are as follows: 
Action Level 1 – 12 m/s – Standby – Safety Officer and Security ready to inform customers that toilets                                     
are temporarily out of use. Event Control to have the Response Team on standby to re-deploy to the                                   
toilet block. 
Action Level 2 – 15 m/s – Evacuate toilet facilities. Security staff to ensure the public are not allowed to                                       
use toilet facilities during this time. 
Evacuation of area  – 16 m/s 

Page 36 
Page 108



  
In the event of an evacuation of the toilets being necessary, the Safety Officer and Production                               
Manager will instigate Show Stop Procedures and begin evacuation of the site. 
  
Marquees ​- any Clearspan marquees in use on site are capable of withstanding a simultaneous wind                               
speed of 60 mph, with Stretch structures reaching the similar limits. 
  
Lightning ​– lightning strikes the ground in Britain about 300,000 times a year. This is a risk that must                                     
be considered. Although there is no absolute protection from lightning, measures can be taken to                             
reduce the risk of getting struck and the injury severity. 
  
There are three different ways of being struck by lightning: 
  
Direct strike​: the lightning hits you and goes to earth through you. 
Side Flash​: the lightning hits another object and jumps sideways to hit you. 
Ground strike​: the lightning strikes the ground then travels through it hitting you on the way. 
  
Flash to bang - To check if a storm is coming or going from where you are standing apply the flash to                                           
bang principle, counting as soon as the lightning flash is seen until the thunder is heard. ‘Flash to                                   
bang’ is based on the following facts: 
  

1. Sound travels at 330 meters per second or at 1 km in 3 seconds (approximately 1 mile every 5                                     
seconds). 

2. Light travels at 300,000 km per second. 
3. Lightning will always be seen before thunder. 

 
To calculate the distance between yourself and the storm divide the number of seconds by 3 to find                                   
the distance in kilometres. If the distance between the thunder and lightning increases over a couple                               
of strikes, the storm is moving away from you. If it decreases, it is coming towards you. 
 
To help identify lightning in the area, a real-time app ‘Lightning Pro’ will push notify the Event                                 
Manager of any strikes within a 30-mile radius. 
  
30/30 rule - Research shows that people struck by lightning are predominantly hit before and after                               
the peak of the storm. This means that you should be thinking about the proximity of the lightning,                                   
not the occurrence of rain. The 30/30 rule provides a good way of ensuring one is sheltering during                                   
the most risky parts of the storm. It proposes that if the flash to bang is 30 seconds in length or less                                           
you should seek shelter. Staying inside this shelter is advised until 30 minutes past the last clap of                                   
thunder. This ensures that any distant strikes at the beginning of the storm (lightning can travel up to                                   
10 miles), or trailing storm clouds at the back of the storm do not take anyone by surprise. 
  
Seeking shelter 

● Ideally, seek shelter inside a large building or a motor vehicle keeping away from, and getting                               
out of wide, open spaces and exposed hilltops. 

● If you are exposed to the elements with nowhere to shelter, make yourself as small a target as                                   
possible by crouching down with your feet together, hands on knees and your head tucked in.                               
This technique keeps as much of you off the ground as possible. 

● The inside of a car is a safe place to be in a storm, lightning will spread over the metal of the                                           
vehicle before earthing to the ground through the tyres. 

Page 37 
Page 109



● Do not shelter beneath tall or isolated trees, it has been estimated that one in four people                                 
struck by lightning are sheltering under trees. 

  
The Site Manager and Safety Officer will monitor local weather forecasts before, during and after the                               
event.​ http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/weather/uk/ 
  
If thunder and lightning are forecast during any phase of the event, then appropriate action will be                                 
taken to safeguard the welfare of staff and the public. 
 
In relation to structures we will be working under the guidance provided to us by the supplier which                                   
in the case of our main stage for this event the following procedure is applicable, which will also be                                     
reflected in any overall site action plan, with the potential for any clearance of the stage resulting in a                                     
clearance of the entire main reviewing area due to small footprint of the overall site. 
 
“Storms specifically in relation to lightning: the local weather forecast will be checked at the start of                                 
each working day. If thunder and lightning storms are forecast, then the onsite supplier                           
representative will contact the senior meteorologist at the Met Office who will advise on the exact                               
time and location of the storm. In the event the storm will pass within five miles of the event site, we                                         
will need to create a minimum of a 30m cordon around the stage until the storm has passed”. 
 
If the above is to be actioned then the Event Safety Officer will decide if the event is safe to continue                                         
or if the site must be cleared in a controlled evacuation, or if the site is able to continue operating                                       
with a reduced footprint. 
 
Should the decision be made to cancel or postpone the event then the cancellation process will be                                 
actioned. 
 
Information will be relayed to ticket holders in real time via Facebook that the event has been                                 
cancelled. Event staff and security stationed at the event site entrance will inform any customers who                               
arrive on site that the event has been cancelled or delayed. If a storm occurs during the event an                                     
evacuation of the site will occur. Announcements will be made by the Production Manager via the PA                                 
system following the Evacuation Procedure outlined in the Event Management Plan. Security staff                         
will assist in evacuating the site. Depending upon the timing of the storm in relation to the planned                                   
opening/closing time of the event, a decision will be made by the Production Manager and Safety                               
Officer as to whether or not to re-open the event once the storm has past. 
  
In case of emergency ​- If someone is hit by lightning, call emergency services – they will need help as                                       
soon as possible. If you know first aid, apply it – you will not receive an electric shock. A lightning strike                                         
is not usually instantly fatal, victims’ hearts and/or breathing may stop however, and so quick                             
application of CPR will likely save their life. Except in cases of emergency, don’t use your telephone                                 
(landline or mobile) until the storm is over. 
 
Cancellation ​- In the event of the event being cancelled due to poor weather conditions, there is                                 
curtailment insurance cover in place through which covers the cost of the production. This allows the                               
promoter to refund customers who have purchased tickets in advance. 
  
Emergency Vehicle Access Routes - Please refer to the TM plan for full information regarding                             
emergency vehicle access. 

   

Page 38 
Page 110

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/weather/uk/


I. Fire safety plan and procedure 

Fire Risk Assessment 
 

Area  Risk  Hazard  Action Plan 

The Car 
Park 

Fuel   Up to 350 cars in the           
car parks at peak       
periods, which for the       
purpose of this     
assessment it must be       
assumed will have full       
fuel tanks 

The car park will be monitored using a               
steward and high tower. The nature of the               
field allows easy viewing to all vehicles. As               
detailed above it will be manned by the               
Security and Stewarding Team with regular           
patrols around and in the car park. This will                 
allow staff to spot an open flame/fire at an                 
early stage and be able to direct other               
members of the team to the source if               
deemed appropriate. If the source is           
deemed to be of a significant nature, then               
the team will be able to identify and tackle                 
any flames/burning.  
 
If deemed appropriate the emergency         
operation plan will be used. 
 

Emergency 
Egress 

This is not viewed as a           
direct risk if the issue is           
isolated (i.e. 1 car). It         
would become more of       
a risk if the fire was           
allowed to intensify 

Likely 
Ignition 

Faults occurring within     
the vehicle, hot     
weather and dry grass,       
or malicious intent 
 

Generator 
and 
Lighting 
Towers 

Fuel  Fuel tanks, containing     
Diesel 

Two or more generators and portable           
lighting towers will be used: they will be in                 
operational areas when in use (i.e. supplying             
power to stage, or food vending trailers             
etc.), and powered down when they are not               
in use. All contractors and traders bringing             
any equipment will be asked to produce all               
safety certification. Generators that will be           
running overnight without constant       
supervision will be those within the tower             
lights. They will all be in sight of the high                   
tower positioned in and around the event             
site. Also, regular perimeter patrols which           
cover the areas lit by tower lights will take                 
place 24/7. This will allow staff to spot an                 
open flame/fire at an early stage and be               
able to direct other members of the team               
to the source if deemed appropriate. If the               
source is deemed to be of a significant               
nature, then the team will be able to               
identify and tackle any flames/burning.  
 

Emergency 
Egress 

This is not viewed as a           
direct risk as the issue         
will be isolated, all       
generators/lighting 
towers will be     
positioned away from     
the public where     
possible or in open       
spaces and fenced off.       
Each tower/generator   
is of a good condition         
and regularly serviced     
by the competent     
contractors employed. 

Likely 
Ignition 

Faults occurring within     
the generators/lighting   
towers 

Page 39 
Page 111



If deemed appropriate the emergency         
operation plan will be used. 

Event 
Venue(s) 

Fuel   Straw, Marquee  Stewarding during peak hours with more           
than 50% occupancy, Strict no smoking           
policy within the venue or within 5 meters.               
Straw bales are extremely tightly compact           
and built in such a way compaction will               
remain. Bales are covered in a fire retardant               
material / sprayed with the appropriate           
product or plaster boarded thus not to             
allow any direct contact with the straw and               
the public. 2 double fire points located in               
the venue with another 3 double fire points               
located on the outside of the venues. Upto               
4000 litres of water stored behind the             
dance venues each with fire hoses and             
pumps allowing 600 litres per minute per             
pump to be directed at any possible fire.               
Stewards will be able to contain any             
ignition or fire, security and will prevent any               
public from using fire fighting equipment. If             
deemed necessary staff will then be able to               
activate the emergency operation plan. 

Emergency 
Egress 

3 exits, 1 main entrance         
exit with 2 fire exits.         
Stewarding when in     
use, checked regularly     
when not. Emergency     
exit signs are     
‘Maintained’ lit.  

Likely 
Ignition 

Faults occurring in     
electrical applications,   
Faulty lighting, public     
misuse. 

Electrical 
connections 
to 
generators 
and 
equipment 

Action Plan  All contactors or traders connecting any equipment to a power source                     
must supply evidence of PAT certification for the equipment where                   
necessary. Any contractors connecting to (other than by way of a                     
European standard domestic electrical connector), operating, or             
installing generators will have to comply with BS 7909:2008 Code of                     
practice for temporary electrical systems for entertainment and               
related purposes, and will require a completion and sign off certificate                     
from the contractor. 

Hot cooking   
areas 

Action Plan  Some traders may be using gas or electricity to cook food or heat                         
beverages. They will be required to produce risk assessments and any                     
relevant certification relating to their equipment. Any surplus               
LPG/GAS will be kept in a fenced area away from the public. No                         
cooking facilities or fire is permitted on the campsite. 

The 
build-up of   
combustible 
material 

Action Plan  Traders and the Litter Team will work to ensure cardboard and                     
packaging does not amass to a point where it becomes a concern.                       
The Event will be manning various stations/high towers throughout                 
the event with stewards; these stations will have one powder, and                     
where necessary one water extinguisher, megaphone, and a 2-way                 
radio where necessary. They will be able to inform their management                     
if an incident occurs, and if the situation is deemed to be of a                           
significant nature, then the team will be to implement the emergency                     
operations plans. 

  

Page 40 
Page 112



For emergency access routes please refer to the TM plan. 
For evacuation procedure please refer to appendix G.  
 
All staff/security/contractors/organisers are briefed and shown the evacuation procedure and fire                     
routes prior to the event. The plans are also made available during the event at the site office. All fire                                       
points throughout the site, hold the correct extinguishers and are signposted and adequately. The fire                             
retardant capabilities of all temporary structures will be documented prior to the event. The event                             
Manager will have final say on which evacuation route to be used and also which fire route will be                                     
advised to the emergency services. 
 

Fire Extinguishers 
Fire extinguishers will be located in each stage, usually at FOH (front-of-house) position for smaller                             
stages or on stage, either side, for the main stage. They will also be located, out of customer reach (i.e.                                       
with a member of staff or behind fences): in the catering area; by generators; by tower lights; in the                                     
car parks; in the campsites; and at the bars.  
 

Water Points / IBCs 
Upto 4000 litres of water will be stored in IBCs behind the stages, each with fire hoses and pumps                                     
allowing 600 litres per minute per pump to be directed at any possible fire. IBCs will also be located                                     
in: the campsites; car parks; and at the main entrance. 
 

Fire Emergency Plan 
 

● If necessary, the Site Manager will invoke the show stop (appendix P) procedure involving                           
immediate PA silence followed by the use of a mega phone 

● Guide members of the public to a safe distance away from the fire and out of any structure via                                     
the predetermined evacuation routes 

● Fires will only be tackled by staff with the site firefighting equipment if it is safe to do so.                                     
Security will not allow any members of the public to use firefighting equipment 

● Most Security and Staff have extinguisher experience and some training extinguisher use.                       
Extinguishers are provided at Fire points throughout the site to tackle small fires only 

● Large 1000L water reserves with pumps and hoses are positioned at designated areas and                           
only used if safe to do so by the correct staff taking into note the overhead power lines. 

● All fires are to be reported immediately to the Event Manager who will then asses and take                                 
appropriate action 

● Designated emergency access to the site will be kept clear throughout the duration, and a                             
blue route made available as part of a one-way system and restricted access to ease access to                                 
the site 

   

Page 41 
Page 113



J. Noise management plan 

Premises Licence guidelines   
‘The premises licence holder shall ensure that music noise levels do not exceed 55 dB(A) LEQ over a 15                                     
minute period at the pre-agreed noise monitoring locations before 23:00, or 45dB(A) LEQ over a 15                               
minute period after 23:00 on Friday, Saturday and Sunday. Noise levels in the past have not been an                                   
issue and we are keen to keep it that way by sticking closely to the limits above. The experienced                                     
sound technicians have worked the same site and event before. They realise why the levels are in                                 
place. The event manager will have constant radio contact with these.  
 
Monitoring    
This will be constant throughout the event with the noise meter reading being relayed back to the                                 
CCTV hut along with a live feed to the land owners mobile device. Random checks will also be carried                                     
out by the sound technicians onsite along with the site manager. Weather conditions will also play a                                 
large part in this monitoring and will be taken into consideration.  
 
Please see the map below on monitoring locations.  
 

 
 
The site has been designed over the past 10 years of events to gain good noise limits for the                                     
enjoyment of patrons with minimal effect on the local residents. With over 10 years of experience                               
sometimes up to to 3 events a year on the same site, the landowner / site manager has a keen ear to                                           
any noise limits that may be getting close to set limitations and is in the best interest to stay on top of                                           

Page 42 
Page 114



noise levels within the event. Residents are informed on a yearly basis with a letter and 24hr phone                                   
number to call if any issues arise. The phone number is linked directly with the landowner. We have a                                     
good relationship with the local residents and have worked closely with them in the early years of                                 
events on this site, we will continue to pursue this.   
 
Action Plan 
Site manager has final say on all levels onsite and will take appropriate action to meet our premises                                   
licence guidelines. If the levels set are exceeded sound levels will be reduced in the offending stage or                                   
alternatively across the site as a whole. The site manager is linked directly through 2 way radio to the                                     
sound team, we can then work on finding any particular area’s noise level and reduce it as required.   

   

Page 43 
Page 115



K. Waste management plan 

The license holder intends on recycling as much of the site litter as possible. All contractors will be                                   
encouraged to use recyclable containers and packaging where possible. 
  
A litter picking team will be employed to keep the site free from litter throughout the event. This                                   
team will also do the final clear down. 
  
All waste removed from the toilets will be dealt with by the contractor. 
  
Any waste/litter created that cannot be handled by the litter picking team (oil etc.) will be removed                                 
and dealt with in a responsible manner by the Site Management team. 

   

Page 44 
Page 116



L. Medical provisions plan 

A minimum of five trained first aid staff will be onsite at all times. 
 
An appropriate level of medical professionals will be onsite relevant to the nature, capacity and                             
requirements of the audience. This will vary from event to event. 
 
Trained first aiders are present at the bar, within the management team and the security team. We                                 
will approach medical providers to discuss the appropriate level of cover required for the event. 
 
Where medical assistance is required, staff are instructed to : 

● Summon assistance through radio contact making the Event Manager aware 
● Assess the casualty 
● Do not touch the patient and maintain distance UNLESS there is an immediate threat to life: 

○ Put them in the recovery position, if appropriate, and security will alert the medical                           
team 

● Await further instructions from Management / medics 
 
This resource will be supported by first aid trained event staff and emergency aid trained security and                                 
stewarding staff. 

   

Page 45 
Page 117



M. Bar management and Alcohol policy 

A valid form of identification relating to the age of the purchaser is required to purchase alcohol                                 
through the event site and car park. ID will be requested at the table prior to service if the purchaser                                       
looks under 25.  
 
The license holder will not sell alcohol to anyone who is:- 
  

● acting in a disruptive or abusive manner whilst under the influence of alcohol 
● purchasing alcohol for someone who has been refused for being in excess of alcohol 

 
At present we envisage the bar will not be in service to the public, and all drink sales will be table                                         
service only. All drinks will be in open paper or plastic containers. 
  
Stewards and Security will report to bar managers if they see any guest who they believe may be                                   
approaching an excess of alcohol, so the bar manager can deal with any problems arising before the                                 
guest is refused service. 
  
The Bar will cease trading no later than 30 minutes before the licensed time / the event end time / the                                         
government guideline time each evening - whichever is earliest. 
 
The license holder site will be complying to ‘Challenge 25’, so will only accept the following forms of                                   
identification: passport, photo driving license or an identification card carrying the “PASS” hologram.   
 
Adequate provision of potable water is available to patrons free-of-charge via drinking water taps on                             
site during the event, or can be purchased from the app in bottles. 
  
Hand washing facilities are a prerequisite for external catering units supplying to the event. 

   

Page 46 
Page 118



N. Safeguarding policy and plan 

For the purpose of this policy, the license holder will define “safeguarding and protecting the welfare                               
of people” as: 

● Protecting people from maltreatment. 
● Preventing the impairment of people's health or development. 
● Ensuring that people are allowed to live, work and exist in circumstances consistent with the                             

provision of safe and effective care. 
● Taking action to enable all people to have the best outcomes. 

  
Legal framework 
This policy has consideration for, and be is compliant with, the following legislation and statutory                             
guidance: 
·         The Children Act 1989 & 2004 
·         The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 
·         The Equality Act 2010 
·         The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
·         The Children and Families Act 2014 
·         The Sexual Offences Act 2003 
  
All staff and volunteers are responsible for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of everybody. 
  
All staff will be made aware of the different safeguarding concerns, how they can identify those at                                 
risk, who they need to report concerns to and how. 
  
In the event of any concerns arising regarding the welfare of any visitor, contractor or member of                                 
staff, the Site Operations Manager or Event Safety Officer should be informed. 
 
Remember: no concern is too small. Staff often have concerns or worries with little evidence, but                               
these can often contribute to a bigger picture, adding up to a serious cause of concern alongside                                 
other information. All staff will be encouraged to report even vague worries at the earliest stage. 

   

Page 47 
Page 119



O. Lost / Found Persons Procedure 

To protect the safety of missing or found persons onsite we have ‘call names’ for use over the radio.                                     
This is to help us differentiate who we are looking for: 
 

● Our radio call name for a missing child is: Mike Charlie 
● Our radio call name for a missing vulnerable adult is: Mike Victor Alpha 
● Our radio call name for a found child is: Foxtrot Charlie 
● Our radio call name for a found vulnerable adult is: Foxtrot Victor Alpha 

 
Please remember to distinguish between a missing child and vulnerable adult in your radio call to the                                 
Security/Event Manager. 
 
Missing Person 
If advised of a missing person by a member of the public, Security will immediately advise the Event                                   
Manager and escort the lost child to the Security Control Room.  

● Reassure the visitor that you are going to get help 
● Radio the Event Manager immediately clearly stating your name, the situation and your                         

location. 
“[radio holder’s name] to Event Manager, we have a Mike Charlie/Mike Victor Alpha, please                           
come to [location].” 

● If you’re not a radio holder, go to the nearest radio holder with the reporting adult. 
The reporting adult should remain in the same location, in case the missing person is nearby, unless                                 
otherwise instructed by the Event Manager. They will be asked by an appointed member of staff to                                 
give detail of: 

○ The missing person’s name; 
○ Age; 
○ Physical description (hair colour/height/eye colour/skin colour); 
○ Description of what clothes the child was wearing; 
○ Last known location on the site; 
○ Time last seen 

● Make a radio announcement using pre-agreed code word (i.e. Mike Charlie) to all radio-holders                           
with a description of the child, asking to report back to Event Control with updates 

● Advise Security to prevent any children leaving the site 
● Does the child have a mobile phone?  

○ Ring it. 
● Did the child arrive by car? If so could they have returned to the vehicle? 

○ Check the car park. 
● Are they camping?  

○ Check tent/camping ground 
● Check the toilets, catering and bar areas 
● Commence full search of site 

○ If child not found, a public announcement can be made at regular intervals 
○ If child is not found in a timely manner, Event Manager will advise Police 

 
Found Person 
If you find a lost child or vulnerable adult, please follow these instructions: 
If you are a Radio Holder: 

● Reassure them that you are going to get some help 

Page 48 
Page 120



● If there is anyone with the child or vulnerable adult, ask them to remain with you if possible 
● Radio the Event Manager immediately clearly stating your name, the situation and your                         

location. 
“[radio holder’s name] to Event Manager, we have a Foxtrot Charlie/Foxtrot Victor Alpha,                         
please come to [location]” 

● Make a radio announcement using pre-agreed code word (i.e. Mike Charlie) to all radio-holders                           
with a description of the child, asking to report back to Event Control with updates 

● Take note of the time you found the individual 
○ If you are at risk of being on your own with the individual, ensure that you are in a                                     

public area where you can be seen and heard. This may mean moving from the                             
location you found the individual – don’t move far, inform the Event Manager of this                             
and take note of where you originally found them. If you found them in a public area                                 
with other volunteers/staff/visitors close by, inform your colleagues that you’d like them                       
to stay with you but do not move from that location and await the Event Manager 

● Remain calm and verbally reassure the lost child or vulnerable adult that help is on the way 
 
If you are not a radio holder: 

● Take note of the time and location you found the individual 
● Reassure the individual that you are going to take them to a colleague to help. 
● Walk with them to the closest point where there is a radio, radio holder or colleague. When                                 

you reach help, inform your colleague of your circumstances and then use the radio to report                               
the found individual following the guidance above. 

○ If this means you are at risk of being on your own with the individual ensure that you                                   
take a route that maintains you are in public view, where you can be seen and heard.                                 
Make sure you go to the closest point of contact from where you found the individual. 

 
If the individual has been missing/separated from their group for 20 minutes or more, the Event                               
Manager will ask an appropriate team member to notify the police on 101. 
 
The Event and Security Managers will coordinate the team, deploy staff and volunteers (if possible in                               
pairs to make sure that staff and volunteers are never left alone with a child) to cover areas to be                                       
searched and liaise with the police. When the police arrive, the search is handed over to them,                                 
although we will still assist if required. When the missing/found individual is reunited with his/her                             
parents/group, the Event Manager will confirm to all radio users that the situation is resolved. 
 
Remember… 

● Don’t panic 
● Try not to move too far from where you are but ask the Event Manager for immediate                                 

assistance 
 
Guidance for Event Manager 

● All reports of missing persons should be treated as emergencies. 
● Contact must be maintained with the individual reporting the lost person until the missing                           

person is found. This is to prevent them finding the missing person and leaving without first                               
alerting property staff. Take names, addresses and a contact number if you can. 

● As much detail as possible should be obtained regarding where the person was last seen plus                               
a description of the missing person as this forms the basis for any search. 

 
A two-stage radio message from the Event Manager dealing with the incident to gather a team and                                 
provide details of the individual. This message should go to all security and FOH staff. 

Page 49 
Page 121



 
1. “This is a message for all radio holders. We have a [Mike Charlie/Mike Victor Alpha/Foxtrot                             

Charlie/Foxtrot Victor Alpha], could all available staff please report to [location]. Standby for                         
details” 

 
ALL RADIO HOLDERS SHOULD THEN IF POSSIBLE TURN THEIR RADIOS DOWN AND HOLD THE                           
RADIO TO THEIR EAR TO ENSURE THAT THE FOLLOWING DETAILS ARE NOT BROADCAST ANY                           
WIDER THAN IS NECESSARY: 
 

2. “[Description of Mike Charlie/Mike Victor Alpha including name, description, clothing, where                     
last seen and any other relevant details]” 

 
If the individual has been missing for 20 minutes or more, or before then if the Event Manager                                   
decides to do so in the circumstances, the Event Manager will ask an appropriate team member to                                 
notify the police on 101 (or 999 if no answer from 101), using the details from the incident report form.                                       
The call should be made from a private area. 
 
The Event Manager will coordinate the team, deploy staff and volunteers (in pairs if possible to make                                 
sure that staff and volunteers are never left alone with a child) to cover areas to be searched and liaise                                       
with the police. When the police arrive, the search is handed over to them although we will still assist                                     
if required. 
 
When the missing individual is reunited with his/her parents/group, the Event Manager will confirm                           
to all radio users that the situation is resolved, saying:- 
 
“The Mike Charlie/Mike Victor Alpha [Foxtrot Charlie/Foxtrot Victor Alpha] is now resolved”. 
 
The Event Manager should complete an Incident Report only if 
• The police were called/involved 
• The circumstances of the incident raise cause for concern e.g. a child is left behind on a school trip 
 

 

   

Page 50 
Page 122



P. Show Stop Procedure 

Only the GOLD Manager may make the final decision to invoke the following procedure. This would                               
usually take place after the ELT have convened. 
  
In the event of an incident deemed to be threatening to the safety of one or more members of the                                       
public/personnel i.e. the collapse of a section of crowd, a fire evacuation alarm, or incidences of                               
crushing, the decision will be taken to temporarily stop the show. 
  
The security staff manning the observation positions shall notify the Event Manager and / or Security                               
Manager who in turn shall notify the ELT. If the GOLD Manager deems it necessary, the designated                                 
artist show stop contact will approach the artist with a view to temporarily halting the show whilst                                 
the situation is monitored and assessed. The Event Manager, Stage Manager and / or Event Safety                               
Officer will liaise with the artist’s representative in order to keep the artist fully informed. 
  
In the event of a very serious incident a member of the ELT will liaise with the artist’s representative                                     
with a view to taking the artist from the stage. 
  
In the event of a full site evacuation, an announcement will be made over the main stage PA asking                                     
patrons to calmly follow staff/security to the designated evacuation assembly points. All power will be                             
cut from performances and – if there are storms in the area – generators will be monitored or turned                                     
off. Site lighting will remain in operation even in inclement weather. 
 

   

Page 51 
Page 123



Q. Available Car Parking area 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

R. Trader List 
 
NOT APPLICABLE FOR THIS DOCUMENT 
 

   

Page 52 
Page 124



S. Site Map 
*ROUGH V1 BELOW - FINAL CAD PLANS TO BE MADE PER EVENT 
 

 

 
Black squares are queueing / seating areas : all group areas separated by 2m distance 

Grid = 100m2 

Page 53 
Page 125



Z. Clarification Points 

 
Will contractors/vendors operate to your risk assessments or theirs? If theirs, then what processes are                             
in place for you to validate them?  If yours, do they know that this is your expectation? 
We expect contractors and vendors to operate off their own RAs, however - as per all of my events                                     
- we always insist on seeing RAMS, insurance and certification prior to arrival on site. These will be                                   
checked prior to the event and if we are unhappy with them (e.g. they don't cover enough or do                                     
not include COVID-19 RAs) then we will go back to the sender. It is part of our usual induction and                                       
process that they will not be permitted on site if we are not satisfied with their documentation.                                 
This goes for food vendors and hygiene (4+) too. 
 
Specifically what controls are being put in place to control the risk of Coronavirus being spread at the                                   
event (both physical measures and procedures/working practices). Again how are contractors/                     
vendors made aware of these. A detailed plan will be very helpful to assess traffic routes and                                 
separation distances. 
Contractors: all contractors are issued with site rules prior to arrival, and they will sign-in after a                                 
brief induction on site. We will include a CV-19 policy section within the contractor document                             
based on the guidelines at the time. Many of these are already highlighted in this document. 
Customers: this is detailed within the event schedule in this document. 
 
How are you encouraging people to not get up and dance/mingle outside of their groups? 
There will not be a dancefloor, and prior to the event we will be sending out FAQs to all ticket                                       
holders (including usual things like parking/transport info, how to use the ordering app, no                           
smoking in tent and prohibited items etc - plus an extra section for keeping COVID safe). It will be                                     
made clear that flouting the COVID rules is classed as an offence and will result in removal.  
 
Are you performing any health screening of staff who are working on site (questionnaires etc)? 
This is detailed in the CV19 RA. 
 
How are you controlling the folk as they arrive / queuing – particularly through security checks? Are                                 
there staggered start times / leaving times? 
This is outlined in the document. 
 
Do you have a policy on face coverings being worn?  
Face coverings must be worn when not seated: i.e. queuing, going to the toilet, leaving. 
 
What is your procedure if you are notified by a customer that they have become ill after being there? 
We will advise the customer to get a COVID-19 test (if they have not already) and inform us of the                                       
results. If they do not have the NHS app, we will contact the EHO to inform them of the case. If                                         
they have used the app, then only those on the paper copy will be contacted to inform them. 
  
What are the contingency plans for the event in the event of a local lockdown or a member of staff                                       
presenting with coronavirus symptoms just before the event? 
We are fortunate that the majority of our site, infrastructure and staffing are supplied by friends of                                 
ours. If we need to cancel due to local lockdown, it's fairly straightforward for us to cancel                                 
internally. An email and/or text alert will be sent to all ticket holders immediately plus posts on                                 
socials/web. Depending on how soon before the event - i.e. same day - we'd look to call around                                   
too. We are likely to still be on site if it is that soon, so we can let anyone who arrives know that the                                               

Page 54 
Page 126



event is cancelled and send them away (although we would hope in the event of local lockdown..                                 
they would know!). If a staff member presents with symptoms after they've already come on site                               
and interacted with other staff / surfaces, we will implement a staggered policy (i.e. they've                             
arrived, said to a manager 'I don't feel well' and sent away ... that would be very different to setting                                       
up the bar/tables, then becoming unwell having already touched multiple surfaces and interacted                         
with several members of staff - this is likely to trigger a delay in opening til the site is evaluated                                       
and possibly a full show stop - however we welcome guidance on best procedure for this). 

Page 55 
Page 127



COVID-19 Risk Assessment

Waterbridge 2021

Name of 
assessor: Date conducted: 19/10/2020 Description of what is being assessed: Ref No:

Date updated: 29/10/2020
Operations for socially-distanced outdoor show WILKES-CV19-RA

WHO 
Assessment

WHO COVID-19 Risk Assessment tool outcome scored the event at risk level 0. The event therefore is deemed to have a LOW 
or VERY LOW overall risk of transmission and further spread of COVID-19.

Assumptions: This risk assessment is based on the assumption that the government permits activities of this nature to go ahead, with additional 
controls as outlined below. 

Emergencies: Measures and reactions to immediate life threat emergencies (such as Fire or Security Emergencies) take precedence over biosecurity 
controls. All teams will be briefed to this effect, however distancing will be considered in evacuation procedures where the immediate threat to life is 
lower than the CV19 risk (determined by the ELT).

Scope: This risk assessment only covers the event activities for which the venue are directly responsible. It does not cover contractor, vendor or external 
promoter activities. All external parties must submit necessary paperwork including CV19 RAs to be checked and approved by the Event Management 
Team prior to arrival on site.

Page 128



Subject Control measures Further information & actions required: To be actioned 
by:

COVID-secure event 
operational planning

Layout of the event designed to comply with 
relevant and current government guidance.

The Event is planned in consultation with the Client and wider stakeholders, and with input from the 
local SAG

Event layout design allows for social distancing, and give social distancing requirements priority, 
with particular attention paid to seating areas and locations for queueing.

Event Manager

Event layout and operational team fully flexible in 
order to implement dynamic regulatory/advisory 
changes to guidance and management

Sector specific rules for events, hospitality and arts will be monitored throughout planning to ensure 
that operational procedures are up to date, compliant and safe Event Manager

Ticketing and entry policy limits group size as per 
the latest government guidance.

Guests issued with e-tickets (no paper tickets) & tickets sold by the table (max capacity 6) rather than 
per person Event Manager

Social Distancing including the use of floor marking, 
one- way systems and PPE etc., to be implemented 
in line with latest government guidance.

Guest information and awareness information to be sent to all ticket holders in advance of the event, 
including detailed information on COVID-19 measures

Staff and contractors to be provided with pre-event information detailing procedures that are in 
place and to be adhered to

All staff - management, staff, security and cleaners are briefed on the COVID-19 Risk Assessment & 
operational requirements, and their responsibilities in implementing it.

Event Manager

Construction & Deconstruction activities are 
planned with a view to maintain social distancing 
between crew members at all times.

Contractors required to submit a COVID-19 Risk Assessment for review prior to work commencing, 
and comply with the Event Site Safety Rules as issued & updated.

The main event infrastructure will be erected once for the event period, and removed at the end in 
order to reduce the number of contractors required on site

Event Manager

Staff training, 
inductions, 
monitoring & 
awareness of COVID- 
19 symptoms

All staff to receive to a briefing / induction prior to 
starting work on site.

All staff - management, hosts, serving, security and cleaners are briefed on the COVID-19 Risk 
Assessment & operational requirements, and their responsibilities in implementing it.

All event staff to complete a COVID-19 Awareness course (or similar) prior to working with customers

Event Manager

All staff will be instructed on how to spot COVID-19 
symptoms in each other, contractors, guests and 
visitors etc.

Staff who identify suspected COVID-19 symptoms will be asked to inform a supervisor and the Venue 
medical team will be notified.

All staff will be provided with training on appropriate use of face shields and face coverings and 
associated risks highlighted on over reliance on their use.
-        good personal hygiene / washing & sanitising remain key to reducing transmission.

Event Manager

Health screening
- staff

Staff who feel ill with COVID-19 symptoms, or who 
have been contacted and instructed to isolate, are 
not permitted to attend the Event and must remain 
in isolation.

All staff are asked to complete a health screening process before work, and are re- briefed on specific 
COVID-19 measures as appropriate. Event Manager

All staff will be subject to initial health screening / 
temperature check prior to admittance onto the 
Event site.

As per the NHS website, a temperature of 37.8deg Celsius or higher constitutes a high temperature, 
and the following will be applied:
1. one re-test permitted after a 'cool-down' period of 10 minutes [cool-down will take place off-site 
and workers will be asked to go back to their vehicle and return after 10 minutes]
2. if upon re-test a temperature is still 37.8deg or above the workers and anyone who travelled to site 
with them will not be permitted access to the site

Event Manager

Clinically extremely vulnerable people or vulnerable 
people will be unsuitable for Front of House roles, 
but maybe able to work in back-office functions.

Staff with concerns or pre-existing conditions that raise their risk should identify themselves to 
Management; appropriate measures to protect their health will be implemented. Event Manager

Page 129



Subject Control measures Further information & actions required: To be actioned 
by:

Health screening
 - others

All visitors, delivery drivers and others attending the 
Event will be subject to initial health screening / 
temperature check prior to admittance onto the 
Event site.

As per the NHS website, a temperature of 37.8deg Celsius or higher constitutes a high temperature, 
and the following will be applied:
1. one re-test permitted after a 'cool-down' period of 10 minutes [cool-down will take place off-site 
and party will be asked to go back to their vehicle and return after 10 minutes]
2. if upon re-test a temperature is still 37.8deg or above the whole party will not be permitted entry

Event Manager

Health screening
- guests

Information about entry terms and conditions 
communicated in advance to all guests and 
additionally via signage at key entry points.

Guests are requested not to attend the Event with:
- a positive COVID-19 test
- COVID-19 symptoms
- if they have been in close contact with someone who has symptoms
- if they have been requested to isolate
- if they are in a vulnerable demographic (age, medical condition etc.)

Guests are encourage to get in touch with the promoter in this instance

Event Manager

All guests are subject to a temperature check on 
arrival at the Event and will not be admitted with a 
high temperature.

As per the NHS website, a temperature of 37.8deg Celsius or higher constitutes a high temperature, 
and the following will be applied:
1. one re-test permitted after a 'cool-down' period of 10 minutes [cool-down will take place off-site 
and customers will be asked to go back to their vehicle and return after 10 minutes]
2. if upon re-test a temperature is still 37.8deg or above the whole party will not be permitted entry 
and advice will be given regarding how to seek help via the NHS website

Event Manager

Measures to limit 
transmission prior to 
arrival

Communications to include information on safer 
travel to reduce airborn spread through travel to the 
venue, with reference to government advice

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-safer-travel-guidance-for-passengers Event Manager

Measures to limit 
transmission at 
entrances and exits / 
opening and closing

Maximum entrance and exit widths to be used, with 
additional entrances opened if possible.

Access points will be clearly indicated, with markings on the floor and barriers used to ensure that 
Social Distanced queuing can take place. Event Manager

Staggered arrival times for parking, and cars parked 
with additional distancing One space will be left between cars, that can then be filled with later time slots.

Ample space for queuing large numbers socially 
distanced

A series of barrier systems marked clearly to portay STAND and DO NOT STAND spaces, each 2m 
apart from the next space for a ticketed table group to stand

Please refer to the site map for visual

Event Manager

Guests will be searched (full pat-down) less 
frequently than normal event policy, i.e. 1 in 10 
instead of 1 in 5.

Gloves will be used for searches and be changed between each person, and hand sanitiser used by 
both parties before and after search Event Manager

Increased door hours prior to showtime to allow for 
staggered arrivals Event Manager

Guests will receive timed-slots for arrival, with the 
numbers per slot restricted to ensure that social 
distance rules can be enforced.

Guest arrivals are staggered by using time slots at point of purchase. Once processed guests are 
escorted to their seating area by a team of hosts who will then reinforce social distancing rules and 
explain the contactless ordering & payment process.

Event Manager

Hand sanitiser stations will be provided at all entry 
and exit points and across the guest queueing 
spaces also

Event Manager

Guests will be required to wear face coverings as 
they enter and leave the Event.

Staff working in entrance / exit areas will be provided with and required to use PPE & associated 
measures including face coverings and gloves. Event Manager

Page 130

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-safer-travel-guidance-for-passengers


Subject Control measures Further information & actions required: To be actioned 
by:

Measures to enable 
social distancing in 
seating areas & 
minimise transmission

Guests are booked into a specific area whose 
occupant capacity and layout has been calculated to 
facilitate social distancing.
-        all seating areas are separated from each other 
by a minimum of 2metres.

On arrival guests will be shown to their seating area and informed that they must remain in this 
location unless using the toilets or attending an activity upon which they re booked.

The wearing of face coverings is required when entering & exiting the Event, using the toilet facilities 
and communicating with Event staff outside of their seated area.

Event Manager

Food and drink will be available with table service 
only via an online app: no cash payments permitted

Leaving the allocated table area is not permitted unless visiting toilet facilities or vacating the event

Food & beverages are to be ordered via an online-app and delivered to the guests seating area, with 
service staff will be allocated a block of 6 groups to minimise the amount of social interaction.

Drink and food orders will be delivered to the end of the table for guests to distribute themselves.

Event Manager

Contractors and vendors encourage to run on 
skeleton staff where possible, to avoid unneccessary 
risk of interaction and transmission

Event Manager

Food and drink will be available using single use 
containers only

Only disposable and single-use containers, cutlery and condiments will be used and these will be 
delivered with the food order.

Staff will not be permitted to touch the containers: all must be loaded onto trays by the vendor and 
removed by the customer

Event Manager

All customer facing staff to wear face coverings 
whilst in public areas or interacting with other staff Coverings to be provided Event Manager

All staff briefed to sanitise their hands at least every 
30 minutes Radio remiders to be made to supervising teams where possible Event Manager

Each seating area will be used only by the guests 
and their party and sanitised before and after 
events, and - where applicable - between user 
groups

Event Manager

A team of dedicated social distancing stewards will 
monitor guests and ensure that the Event rules are 
being followed

Additional SIA Response Team provided to enforce Event rules and manage any potentially 
disruptive or non- compliant guests. Event Manager

Measures to enable 
social distancing in 
high-footfall areas 
(entrance / exit /
toilets etc.)

The Event layout will be designed to minimise the 
need for guests to transit between different areas of 
the Event.

High-footfall areas will use one-way system where possible, with signage indicating a Keep Left / 
Right system using marking and stewards to enforce.

Toilets will have queues with marked social distancing ingress barriers, and one-way system entry 
and exit

Event Manager

Guest management

Each guest area is staffed with both stewards and 
security personnel who are tasked with ensuring 
social distancing and other transmission prevention 
rules such as the use of hand sanitiser and face 
coverings, are in place and their proper usage is 
enforced.

Guests when not seated, must wear appropriate face coverings when entering & exiting the Event, 
using the toilet facilities and communicating with Event staff outside of their seated area. Event Manager

Barriers, signage and one-way systems will be in 
place to reduce risk of interation and therefore 
transmission

Pedestrian barrier, sprayed floor markings and/or printed signs to highlight distancing measures 
and direction of foot-traffic Event Manager

Page 131



Subject Control measures Further information & actions required: To be actioned 
by:

Measures to manage 
distancing at exit

Guests will be asked to exit the same way they came 
in: using the barrier system in reverse to queue for 
the car park

At low footfall times these queues will be able to flow freely into the car park.

When footfall increases for exit - we envision approx 30 minutes before the end of the show til the 
site is cleared - service staff will be repositioned once service closes to control the queues and the 
frequency in which parties enter the car park.

Event Manager

Track and trace
Anyone entering the site - whether staff, contractor, 
client or customer - must check-in via the NHS 
COVID-19 test and trace app

In addition to this, lead booker details collected as part of the ticket-booking process.

Visitors who are unable to use the NHS app must record their details via a paper copy in the event 
office.

Event Manager

Entertainment

Live performances will take place at low-volume 
with a minimum 5m distance between performers 
and guests.

In addition to this, performers on stage will maintain distance from one another as per the 
government guidance Event Manager

Encouragment of singing or chanting is not allowed

Artists and management will be informed at the booking stage, and reminded again at the pre-
show briefing

Stage managers will enforce this and trigger a show-stop if necessary

Event Manager

First Aid & medical 
treatments

A qualified medical provider will be contracted to 
provide medical and welfare services on site - they 
must follow same guidelines as all contractors in 
regards to distancing and PPE

The numbers determined by guidance in the Purple Guide and with SAG liaison Event Manager

First Aid trained staff on site who are first responder 
to a medical incident will follow social distancing 
guidelines relating to first aid provision and the 
treatment of patients.

Appropriate PPE (gloves, FP3 face mask, face shield) must be used when treating guests, and also 
staff etc. who indicate any COVID-19 symptoms.

First Aid staff must wash hands and clothes after treating a suspected COVID-19 patient.

Event Manager

Ventilation
Event will take place outside No covered spaces in guest areas means maximum ventilation Event Manager

Contractor / vendor CV19 RAs to consider ventilation 
in units To be checked prior to arrival on site Event Manager

Toilet provision

Use of toilet facilities will be monitored at all times 
by a dedicated toilet cleaner / attendant on-duty 
from 12:00 22:30 daily.

Socially distanced queuing systems in place at toilet facilities, with floor markers and barriers in use 
as appropriate. Event Manager

Maximum ventilation to be used to minimise the 
risk of airborne transmission. Guests to use face covering when queueing for & using toilet facilities. Event Manager

Cleaning

A regular cleaning and sanitisation routine will be 
implemented focussing on toilet areas and areas 
with multiple touch-points such as tables, toilet 
doors, taps etc.

Cleaning operations will take place in line with Government advice as found on
h ttps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-  h ealthcare-
settings/covid-19-decontamination-in-non-healthcare-settings
-        all cleaning products used at the event will meet BS EN 1276

Event Manager

Toilets will be cleaned continuously by a full-time 
toilet attendant on-duty from event open, until all 
toilets are cleaned after closing.

An external contractor with experience and professional equipment will be used for this service. Event Manager

Guest areas will be cleaned regularly throughout the 
operation, with tables and chairs sanitised between 
uses and cleaned regularly throughout the day.

The Event space will be fully cleansed and sanitised every day before and after each event Event Manager

Page 132



Subject Control measures Further information & actions required: To be actioned 
by:

Staff welfare & access 
for hand-wash / 
sanitiser

No staff changing facilities are provided on site to 
minimise potential for transmission between staff 
members.

Large areas for staff breaks will be utilised within the event space, with seating distanced at 2m

Staff welfare facilities including toilet facilities, regularly cleaned and sanitised throughout the event 
period

All staff facilities receive a daily deep-clean each morning

Event Manager

Hand-sanitiser provided in all staff working areas. Event Manager

Staff offices, meetings 
& briefings

Staff required to work within enclosed spaces will be 
provided with socially distanced desks of at least 2m 
separation.

Office will be designed with social distancing in mind Event Manager

Face-to-face meetings between staff in enclosed 
meeting rooms will be removed entirely from the 
daily operation.

All meetings will be limited as much as possible, with the majority of communication happening off-
site, via email, video conferencing or other technological means. Event Manager

Staff briefings and sign-ins will take place outdoors 
and will be as short as is feasible.

In the event of inclement weather, sign in will take place under a canopy with 2m distancing 
measures and signage in place

Staff will be grouped into small groups for inductions and staff briefings

Event Manager

Page 133



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

East Hertfordshire

Consent to be designated

Licensing Act 2003

For help contact

community.protection@eastherts.gov.uk

Telephone: 01279 655261 

* required information

Section 1 of 3

You can save the form at any time and resume it later. You do not need to be logged in when you resume.

System reference Not Currently In Use
This is the unique reference for this 
application generated by the system.

Your reference covid19 2021
You can put what you want here to help you 

track applications if you make lots of them. It 

is passed to the authority.

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant?

Yes No

Put "no" if you are applying on your own 

behalf or on behalf of a business you own or 

work for.

Applicant Details

* First name Tom

* Family name Wilkes

* E-mail

Main telephone number Include country code.

Other telephone number

Indicate here if you would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Are you:

Applying as a business or organisation, including as a sole trader

Applying as an individual

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.  
Applying as an individual means you are 
applying so you can be employed, or for 
some other personal reason, such as 
following a hobby.

Page 134



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Your Address

* Building number or name

* Street

District

* City or town

County or administrative area

* Postcode

* Country United Kingdom

Address official correspondence should be 

sent to.

Section 2 of 3

CONSENT

Name Of Proposed Premises Supervisor

* First name Tom

* Family name Wilkes

Address Of Proposed Premises Supervisor

* Building number or name

* Street

District

* City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

* Country United Kingdom

I hereby confirm that I give my consent to be specified as the designated premises supervisor in relation to the following 

application, and any premises licence to be granted or varied in respect of this application concerning the supply of alcohol 

at the premises

* Type of application application for premises licence
For instance  'Application for a premises 

licence' or 'Variation of a premises licence'

Is the application or variation that this consent is being submitted in 

connection with being supplied electronically to the authority

Yes No Don't know

Reference number of 

electronic application (if 

known)

If the application or variation form is already 

submitted, ask its applicant for the form's 

'system reference' or 'your reference'.

Page 135



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

Premises Licence Holder

* Name Tom Wilkes

Address Of Premises

* Building number or name

* Street

District

* City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Premises

Premise licence number

* Name of premises Field of Waterbridge

I also confirm that I am applying for, intend to apply for or currently hold a personal licence, details of which I set out below

Personal licence number

Personal licence issuing 

authority name East Herts 

Address Of Personal Licence Issuing Authority

Building number or name Wallfields

Street Pegs Lane

District

City or town Hertford

County or administrative area East Herts 

Postcode sg13 8eq

Contact Details Of Personal Licence Issuing Authority

Telephone number

Section 3 of 3

DECLARATION

* 

[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership which is not a limited liability partnership] I 

understand I am not entitled to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and work in the UK (or if I 

am subject to a condition preventing me from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and that my 

licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the UK (please read guidance note 15)

Page 136



© Queen’s Printer and Controller of HMSO 2009 

Continued from previous page...

* 

The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK (and is not subject to conditions preventing him or 

her from doing work relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her proof of entitlement to work, if 

appropriate (please see note 15)

Ticking this box indicates you have read and understood the above declaration

This section should be completed by the applicant, unless you answered "Yes" to the question "Are you an agent acting on 

behalf of the applicant?”

* Full name

* Capacity

Date   (dd/mm/yyyy)

Add another signatory

Once you're finished you need to do the following: 

1. Save this form to your computer by clicking file/save as...

2. Go back to  https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/east-hertfordshire/change-7 to upload this file and 

continue with your application.

Don't forget to make sure you have all your supporting documentation to hand.

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



S:\Licensing&CommunitySafety\Reports\Licensing Sub Committe reports\2020 New, varied & 

reviews\Waterbridge 2021\Rep for Waterbridge.doc 

EAST HERTS LICENSING AUTHORITY 
Licensing Act 2003 

 

REPRESENTATION FORM FROM RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 

Responsible Authority (please delete as applicable): 
Police – Hertfordshire Constabulary 
 

Your Name  

Job Title Licensing Officer  

Postal and email address 
 
 

Hertford Police Station  

Contact telephone number  

 

Name of the premises you are 
making a representation about 

Waterbridge 2021 

Address of the premises you are 
making a representation about 

Frogmore Hill, Watton-At-Stone, Hertford, SG14 3RR 

 

Which of the four licensing 
Objectives does your 
representation relate to?  

Yes 
Or 
No 

Please detail the evidence supporting your 
representation. Or the reason for your representation. 
Please use separate sheets if necessary 

To prevent crime and 
disorder/Public Safety/To 
prevent public nuisance 
 
 
 

YES Please see Appendix  
 
 
 
  
 

Suggested conditions that could 
be added to the licence to 
remedy your representation or 
other suggestions you would like 
the Licensing Sub Committee to 
take into account. Please use 
separate sheets where 
necessary and refer to checklist. 

 
There would need to be a significant reduction in the number 
of people attending the events and the number of events 
being held. The information about the types of events being 
held would need to be more specific so the application can 
be properly assessed around risks.  
 
 

 
Signed:    Date:  26.11.2020 
 
Please return this form along with any additional sheets to:East Herts Licensing Authority, Wallfields, Pegs 
Lane, Hertford, Herts SG13 8EQ or email to community.protection@eastherts.gov.uk  
This form must be returned within the Statutory Period.  For more details please check with the 
Community Protection Section Unit on 01279 655261  

Page 139



Page 1 of 4 
 

Appendix .    RESTRICTED 

 
 
 
The governing principles of the Licensing Act are the four Licensing Objectives. All organisations 
and individuals involved in the running of Licensed Premises, must do so with a view to promoting 
these Objectives: 
 

The Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
Public Safety 
The Prevention of Public Nuisance 
The Protection of Children from Harm 

 
This representation is made by Hertfordshire Constabulary in relation to the time limited Premise 
Licence Application to cover the period between 1st January 2021 and 2nd January 2022 for a field 
named Waterbridge located off Frogmore Hill, Walkern. The applicant, Tom Wilkes has applied to 
licence every Friday, Saturday and Sunday from 1000 hours to 2300 hours each day for music, 
alcohol and other entertainment including, dance, plays and films.  
 
Tom Wilkes already holds a premise licence for this location, licensing him to hold 3 camping 
festivals each year, consisting of 3 days and 3 nights each with a capacity of up to 4950 people.  
 
The location is in a rural area, it is accessed via Frogmore Hill, a single track lane with few passing 
places, about 700 metres long to the start of the site area from the A602. Alternatively it accessed 
via Walkern Road, again another lane that links to the village of Watton at Stone, approximately 
1500 metres away. The lanes have no street lighting. There are residential properties within the 
immediate area also accessed off Frogmore Hill and Walkern Road.   
 
Tom Wiles has stated in his application that the intention behind this application is to enable him 
to hold a number of COVID safe events throughout 2021. It states each of the events will host up 
to 1500 people and will be summer based, it does not state how many events will be held. As 
stated the licence applied for is to licence every weekend for a year. 
 
It is believed that if it this application was granted the licensing objectives around public safety, 
prevention of public nuisance and prevention of crime and disorder would be undermined for the 
reasons detailed below. 
 
Any event held at this location has an impact on those living in the area, the three festivals 
currently held there have an impact due to traffic, noise and litter. There is an increase in traffic 
coming to the location on single track roads, the events create a level of noise not just at 
unsociable hours but throughout the day, and there have been concerns raised previously about 
litter being left on the surrounding roads as a result of the events. Adding numerous other events 
to the three already held there will cause a regular and constant nuisance to the community in the 
area making this impact unreasonable. There have been residents in the past who have 
complained about the events taking place. 
 

Page 140



Page 2 of 4 
 

The event management plan supplied with the application states there is no need for a TTRO for 
the planned events and the traffic management plan is minimal as can be seen by the below 
screen shot taken from page 25 of the EMP. 

 
As stated the location is accessed via single track lanes, the increase in traffic and lack of TTRO 
(which would make the roads one way only) will mean conflict between vehicles travelling in 
opposite directions on single track roads. This issue is something that has been discussed at length 
with Tom Wilkes in the past due to concerns around his current events. Making the lanes one way 
does however cause a significant diversion for residents out through the village of Watton at 
Stone. 
 
The events currently held at the location are held over a number of days and the majority of 
attendees’ camp on site. This reduces the traffic impact as people arrive over a more spread out 
period of time. The new planned events will not have camping. They are day / evening only events 
meaning that the majority of people will arrive and leave at the same. This massively increases the 
traffic concerns and the impact of traffic on the community.  
 
In 2018 the first and only single day event was held at the location under the current licence, 
approximately 2000 people were at the event. Police were in attendance during the evening and 
witnessed total chaos at the end of the event as people tried to leave. Taxi numbers were 
insufficient, they were reluctant to pick up patrons due to the lack of traffic management, 
meaning people decided to walk home or walk to the top of lane to meet taxis/lifts. This resulted 
in a very dangerous situation where people were walking on single track, unlit lanes. As a result of 
this event Tom Wilkes was advised not to hold single day events under his current licence which 
he agreed. Dispersal from the event was highlighted to Tom Wilkes as a major concern yet in this 
new application for single day events his EMP makes no mention of how he intends to manage the 
dispersal of 1500 people from the site late at night. This is because this dangerous situation has no 
financially viable solutions.  
 
People walking down unlit lanes is not only dangerous but also puts them at risk of being victims 
of crime. These people are likely to be under the influence of alcohol in addition to being in dark 
and isolated locations and as a result are very vulnerable. Having regular events where this is an 
issue will give notable opportunities to those wishing to exploit vulnerabilities.  
 
The areas of risk highlighted above are not identified within the event risk assessment that has 
been supplied. The risk assessment instead focuses purely on how the event will be safe with 
regards to COVID 19. Of further concern the EMP does not state that they will have a person 
allocated as an Event Safety Officer, although within the other role descriptions an Event Safety 
Officer is mentioned as being reported to.  
 

Page 141



Page 3 of 4 
 

Screen shot taken from page 13 of the EMP listing the key personnel. 
 

 
 
Later in the EMP on page 17 the following diagram is used to show the ‘Event Management 
Approach’. This doesn’t follow the list of key roles listed above. 
 

 
 
The first paragraph in the extreme weather procedure on page 36 (screen shot below) seems to 
indicate that the event is taking place undercover, which is contrary to what has previously been 
stated. 
 

 
 
There are clearly errors and a lack of detail within the EMP document which cause concern and 
need rectifying. In addition to the points already mentioned, there is a lack of information with 
regards to lighting at the event, the estimated numbers of cars is below what would be expected 
of an event with 1500 people attending (estimated to be 350 by Tom Wilkes but Police estimate it 
would be nearer 600 cars), the car park and site maps shown on pages 52 and 53 are not clear. It is 

Page 142



Page 4 of 4 
 

difficult to see where the car parks are in relation to the event site. They do not show the site as a 
whole and how the organisers plan to get vehicles onto the site and what the emergency access 
routes would be. Overall the majority of the EMP is fairly generic information, it is lacking the 
required detail and information to ensure the safe running of the event. 
 
Tom Wilkes has stated he intends to hold a variety of differing events at the location, stating they 
will be a mix of open air cinema, comedy, music and family based events as well as over 18s only 
events – which is only mentioned later in the application under sec 18(e). This is a very wide 
description giving us no indication as to exactly what will be held on each occasion. The type of 
event changes the risk areas significantly. It is also unclear why he states summer months yet 
applies to licence the whole year. 
 
Tom Wilkes indicates in the application that he would use the new licence if he is unable to hold 
the festivals he is already licenced for due to COVID. There is however no reason why he could not 
hold both once licenced to do so. Police are aware that he has indicated to Environmental Health 
Colleagues that he will in fact be holding his Wilkestock Event in September should the COVID 
restrictions allow him to. 
 
Police have worked closely with Tom Wilkes over the past 5 years in relation to the events he 
currently hosts at the location. Conditions were placed on the licence he currently holds to try to 
guide him in relation to the areas he needed to cover as part of his EMP and risk assessment. One 
condition is to ensure the EMP for each event is supplied 3 months before each event. Tom Wilkes 
regularly has to be chased for the EMP’s, he also has to be reminded about submitting the SAG 
notification for each event. , the East Herts Licensing officer, has found that the 
EMP’s provided often lack the necessary information and so meetings have to be held to ensure 
these issues are rectified before the event. Often has found that she has to chase 
Tom Wilkes for the information and even when it is supplied information is still missing. As a result 
of this constant requirement of Police to identify and rectify issues, the Police have a lack of faith 
in the safe running of these events. The additional work created by running regular and ever 
changing events is something the Police do not feel the organisers will keep on top of. As a result 
there is a risk to public safety.   
 
In summary, the location is not suitable for single day events as they result in a public safety issue 
of patrons walking away from the site on unlit lanes late at night. They are then also vulnerable to 
being victims of crime. Having events at this location on a regular basis will cause a repetitive 
nuisance to local residents due to the noise, litter and additional traffic.  There are strong concerns 
that the organisers of these events will not manage these issues effectively without significant 
input from the Police which cannot be guaranteed resulting in a risk to public safety. Hertfordshire 
Constabulary’s submission is that this application for a premises license is rejected. 
 
 
Report completed by Police Sergeant  Licensing Sergeant for East Herts and Police 
Licensing Officer,  
 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C: Location Plan, Waterbridge 2021 

 

Page 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes - 20 November and 9 December 2020
	Minutes - 9 December 2020.doc

	6 Summary of Procedure
	7 Application for a new Premises Licence, Waterbridge 2021 at Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton at Stone, Hertford
	Application for a new Premises Licence, Waterbridge 2021 at Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton at Stone, Hertford - Appendix A (Application and EMP)
	Appendix A - Waterbridge 2021 - LSC 8.1.21.pdf (p.1-85)
	Appendix A - Waterbridge 2021.pdf (p.1-24)
	1584263-east-hertfordshire-1015234-Waterbridge COVID-secure Events 2021 - Event Management  Plan v1.pdf (p.25-79)
	1584262-east-hertfordshire-1015234-Waterbridge 2021 - WILKES-CV19-RA v1.pdf (p.80-85)

	East_Hertfordshire_Consent_to_be_designated Tom Wilkes_redacted.pdf (p.86-89)

	Application for a new Premises Licence, Waterbridge 2021 at Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton at Stone, Hertford - Appendix B (police representation)
	Rep for Waterbridge.pdf (p.1)
	Appendix A Herts Constabulary representation Waterbridge.pdf (p.2-5)

	Application for a new Premises Licence, Waterbridge 2021 at Waterbridge, Frogmore Hill, Watton at Stone, Hertford - Appendix C (location plan)


